



Nutrient Management in the Danube Basin and its Impact on the Black Sea daNUbs EVK1-CT-2000-00051



Deliverable 5.11. Revised regional emission model

by Horst Behrendt, Dieter Opitz and Heide Schreiber

Leibniz Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Department of Shallow Lakes and Lowland Rivers Berlin Müggelseeedamm 310, 12587 Berlin



December 2004

ON BEHALF OF THE EUROPEAN UNION





Nutrient Management in the Danube Basin and its Impact on the Black Sea daNUbs EVK1-CT-2000-00051



Deliverable 5.11. Revised regional emission model

by Horst Behrendt, Dieter Opitz and Heide Schreiber

Leibniz Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Department of Shallow Lakes and Lowland Rivers Berlin Müggelseeedamm 310, 12587 Berlin



December 2004

ON BEHALF OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

Authors

Horst Behrendt

Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany e-mail: behrendt@igb-berlin.de .

Dieter Opitz

Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany e-mail: opitz@igb-berlin.de

Heide Schreiber

Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany e-mail: h.schreiber@igb-berlin.de .

Acknowledgements to:

Lucian Theodor Constantinescu

Romanian Waters, National Administration, Str. Edgar Quinet 6, RO-70106 Bucharest, Romania e-mail: teodor.constantinescu@rowater.ro.

Irena Cvitanic

Environmental Agency of the Republic of Slovenia, Vojkova 1b, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia, e-mail: <u>irena.cvitanic@gov.si</u>.

Dumitru Drumea

National Institute of Ecology, Academiei str., 6/1, ap. 25, MD-2028 Chisinau, Moldova e-mail: drumead@hotmail.com.

Dalila Jabucar

Hydro-Engineering Institute Sarajevo, Stjepana Tomica 1, BA-71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina e-mail: dalila.jabucar@heis.com.ba.

Stanislav Juran

Water Research Institute, T.G.M., Drevarska 12, CZ-65757 Brno, Czech Republic e-mail: <u>sjur@atlas.cz</u>.

Christoph Lampert

Institut für Wassergüte und Abfallwirtschaft, University of Technology Vienna, Karlsplatz 13, A - 1040 Vienna, Austria e-mail: <u>clampert@iwag.tuwien.ac.at</u>.

Carmen Postolache

University of Bucarest, Faculty of Biology, Department of Ecology, Spl. ndependentei 91-95, 76201 Bucharest, Romania e-mail: carmen@bio.bio.unibuc.ro

Beata Pataki

Institute for Water Pollution Control, Water Resources Research Centre Plc., Kvassay Jeno út 1. H-1453 Budapest, Hungary e-mail: patakibea@vituki.hu.

Sergej Snishko

Faculty of Geography, Taras Shevchenko National University, Vasylkiwska Str. 90, UA-03022 Kiew, Ukraine e-mail: sergej@snizhko.kiev.ua.

Jos van Gils

WL | Delft Hydraulics, Rotterdamseweg 185, 2629 HD Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: Jos.vanGils@wldelft.nl

Matthias Zessner

Institut für Wassergüte und Abfallwirtschaft, University of Technology Vienna, Karlsplatz 13, A - 1040 Vienna, Austria e-mail: mzessner@iwag.tuwien.ac.at .

Contents

I. Changes of the database and model approaches	6
I.1 Changes of the Database	6
I.2 Changes of the model MONERIS	10
II. Present state of significant human drivers in the countries of the Danube basin	12
II.1 Introduction	12
II.2 Present state of the nutrient point discharges	12
II.3 Land use patterns and agricultural indicators	14
II.4 Acknowledgements	23
II.5 References	24
III. Results of the revised model	25
III.1 Introduction	25
III.2 Database and method	26
III.3 Results and Discussion	33
III.3.1 Characteristics of the river system and nutrient balances	33
III.3.2 Nutrient input pathways and sources	35
III.3.3 Comparison with measured data and model uncertainties	40
III.4 Conclusions	43
III.5 Acknowledgements	44
III.6 References	45
IV. Long term changes	48
IV.1 Introduction	48
IV.2 Database and Methods	49
IV.3 Results and Discussion	58
IV.4 Conclusions	71
IV.5 Acknowledgements	72
IV.6 References	72
List of Figures	76
List of Tables	79

I. Changes of the database and model approaches

Horst Behrendt¹ and Dieter Opitz¹

I.1 Changes of the Database

Within the Deliverable 5.4 of the project and Schreiber et al. (2003) a harmonised and GIS supported database was established for the total Danube basin. This database was raw for certain parameters as especially Soil, Hydrogeology, Erosion and waste water treatment plants. Within the work of Deliverable 5.11 the resolution of some of these digitised maps could be increased by involvement of a new geological map for the Danube according to *Regional Co-operation of the Danube Countries (Regionale Zusammenarbeit der Donauländer)*, 1986, in "Die Donau und ihr Einzugsgebiet" part 3 (see Figure I.1). This geological map could be used especially for a better distinguish between consolidated and unconsolidated rocks as well as between the unconsolidated rocks with shallow and deep groundwater layers. The use of the new geological map has improved the model results for some of the subcatchments as the Wulka.

Within the revision of the database and the model it was also planed to establish a new map for the soil erosion based on the USLE. For this task the new dataset of the digital elevation model was prepared with a resolution of 90 m according to the SRTM data of the NASA (<u>ftp://e0mss21u.ecs.nasa.gov/srtm/Eurasia/</u>). This map is show in Figure I.2. From this map a slope map was also derived. The establishing of a new soil loss map could not be finished, because the European soil map in the scale 1:1,000,000 was not available for the project partner. Further the co-worker could not continue this work, because of a complicated pregnancy.

A database for all Austrian WWTP's larger than 2000 population equivalents was provided by the Austrian Environmental Agency (UBA Vienna) for the use within the da-NUbs project. By this WWTP data the available information of the point source inventory was increasing from 3453 WWTP datasets to 3957 (see Figure I.3).

Further enlargements of the database were due to the modelling of the historical changes of the nutrient loads into the Danube river system and the scenario calculations according to Deliverable 5.12. These specific enlargements are presented in chapter III of this Deliverable as well as in 5.12 (van Gils et al., 2005).

¹ Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany.



Figure I.1 Hydrogeological classes used by MONERIS according to *Regional Co-operation of the Danube Countries (Regionale Zusammenarbeit der Donauländer)*, 1986, in "Die Donau und ihr Einzugsgebiet" part 3



Figure I.2 Digital elevation model for the Danube with 90m resolution according to ftp://e0mss21u.ecs.nasa.gov/srtm/Eurasia/



Figure I.3 Map of waste water treatment plants in the Danube basin according to ICPDR point source inventory and national inventories for Austria, Germany, Hungary and Slovakia.

I.2 Changes of the model MONERIS

For the modelling of the historical changes and the scenarios the model structure was enlarged by an additional file, which includes all data of the Danube countries and the main sub-basins of the Danube which are changing over time. Temporal changes of the sub-national level (e.g. districts) were not considered due to missing data for the most of the countries.

The changes of the applied model MONERIS are limited only to the modelling of the emissions dissolved phosphorus by surface runoff. The changes were necessary, because the assumptions on the dissolved P-concentrations for surface runoff of agricultural land were only based on German conditions and could not be transferred to other countries of the Danube, where the P-accumulation in the top soils was substantial lower than in Germany.

In the old version of the model the dissolved P-concentrations of surface runoff from arable land and pasture were set as constant (see Figure I.4).

The new approach takes into account that P-concentrations given in Figure I.4 will be reached for the German part of the Danube.

For the other countries these concentrations are calculated depending on the following



Figure I.4 Diagram for the estimation of the nutrient emissions by surface runoff into a river system according to SCHREIBER et al. (2003).

equations:

$$C_{ROCROP} = a + b \cdot \exp(\frac{P_{ACCX}}{P_{ACCDE}} \cdot c_{SATCROP})$$
(1)

$$C_{ROGRAS} = a + b \cdot \exp(\frac{P_{ACCX}}{P_{ACCDE}} \cdot c_{SATGRAS})$$
⁽²⁾

with $C_{ROCROP_{N,P}}$ = nutrient concentration in surface runoff from a able land (mg/l), $C_{ROGRAS_{NP}}$ = nutrient concentration in surface runoff from grassland (mg/l), PACCX = P accumulation in the agriculture of the country X (kg/ha), = P accumulation in the agriculture of Germany = 880 kg/ha, PACCDE = constant (0.035), а b = constant (0.00000618), CSATCROP = constant (14 or 90% of saturation level) and C_{SATGRAS} = constant (12.4 or 80% of saturation level).

The mean concentration of P in the surface runoff can be calculated by using equation (1) and (2):

$$C_{RO_{N,P}} = \frac{C_{ROCROP_{N,P}} \cdot A_{AR} + C_{ROGRAS_{N,P}} \cdot A_{GRAS} + C_{ROFOR_{N,P}} \cdot A_{FOR} + C_{ROOP_{N,P}} \cdot A_{OP}}{A_{AR} + A_{GRAS} + A_{FOR} + A_{OP}}$$
(3)

with $C_{RO_{N,P}}$	= nutrient concentration in surface runoff (mg/l),
A _{AR}	= area of arable land (km^2) ,
A _{GRAS}	= grassland area (km ²),
A _{FOR}	= area of forest(km ²),
A _{OP}	= open area (km ²),
$C_{ROFOR_{N,P}}$	= nutrient concentration in surface runoff from forest (mg/l),
$C_{ROOP_{N,P}}$	= nutrient concentration in surface runoff from open land (mg/l).

For forest and open land the level of P-saturation of the soils was assumed to be below 50%. Than the P-concentration for both landuse categories is nearly the constant a in equation (1) and (2) or 0.035 mg/l P.

Using this new approach the model calculates for the past and also for the present state of the Eastern European countries a substantial lower P-concentration for the surface runoff. All other approaches used for the modelling are in the revised version of MONERIS the same as given by Schreiber et. al (2003) in Deliverable 5.4.

In the following chapters the results of the model calculations with the revised database and model approaches are given.

II. Present state of significant human drivers in the countries of the Danube basin

Horst Behrendt²

II.1 Introduction

Whereas the load of substances from point discharges can be measured or calculated from measured concentrations and flows, the emissions of substances from diffuse sources cannot be measured. For small watersheds the loads can be estimated but for medium and large river catchments the estimation of the diffuse source pollution is only possible by mathematical modelling. This is done using land use, hydrological, soil and hydrogeological data collected in a Geographical Information System (GIS) as well as statistical information for different administrative levels.

The definition of significant sources of pollution for the diffuse emissions is a very complex theme. This is especially the case for large transboundary river basins such as the Danube. The main problem is to distinguish between areas with low and high levels of diffuse pollution. These levels are not only dependent on anthropogenic factors such as land use and land use intensities, but also on natural factors such as climate, flow conditions and soil properties. These factors influences, the pathways of the diffuse nutrient emissions and the retention and losses on the way from the origin to the inputs into the river system. Absolute values of the significant diffuse source of pollution are also difficult to define. This is because the level of the intensity of land use as the main indicator for the diffuse emissions into the river is also dependent on the population density in the catchment area.

Criteria for estimating the significant diffuse sources, which ignore the natural and basic anthropogenic conditions are not reliable for distinguishing between significant and insignificant levels. Furthermore, a number of uncertainties need to be taken into account when analysing the data.

II.2 Present state of the nutrient point discharges

The total nutrient point discharges into the Danube was about 134.4 kt/a nitrogen and 22.7 kt/a phosphorus in the year 2000 (see part II).

Figure II.1 and Figure II.2 shows the difference in the present state of the specific nutrient point source discharges within the Danube countries. For these figures the estimated point discharges of nutrients for the individual countries were divided by the population in the countries which is connected to Waste water treatment plants (WWTP). For ni-

² Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany.

trogen it is shown that the lowest point N discharges of 4 g/(Inh.·d) per connected inhabitant is realised by Germany followed by Austria and Czech Republic. The Figure represents the differences of the level of waste water treatment between the countries. For some countries the specific N discharges are higher than the assumed N emission per inhabitant of 12 g/(Inh.·d). This is due to the fact that the point source database includes industrial discharges emitted into the river indirectly (via sewer system) and directly (industrial point sources) and the low level of nitrogen removal in most of the WWTPs of these countries (dominance of mechanical treatment).

The picture for phosphorus presented in Figure II.2 is similar to that for nitrogen (Figure II.1), but the differences between the countries are much larger. This is due to the fact that the specific P point discharges reflect, not only the state of the P elimination in waste water treatment plants, but also the existing use of phosphorus in detergents, and discharges from direct industrial sources. This is the reason that the specific P emissions are above 1 g/(Inh.·d) for Slovenia, Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro as well as Bulgaria. The medium level P emissions between 0.5 and 1 g/(Inh.·d) were found for Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Hungary, Bosnia Herzegovina, Romania and Moldova. Beside Germany and Austria, the specific point P discharges are also below 0.5 g/(Inh.·d) for Ukraine. These relative low specific P emission for Ukraine is probably due to an underestimation of the P point source discharges in the point source inventory of ICPDR or an overestimation of people connected to WWTP.



Figure II.1 Inhabitant specific N discharges from point sources in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 according to SCHREIBER et al. (2003).



II.3 Land use patterns and agricultural indicators

The Danube basin is characterized by large gradients of anthropogenic and natural indicators, which are important for affecting nutrient inputs into the river system. One indicator for the level of the diffuse emissions of substances can be the land use within the basin and its regional distribution.

Figure II.3 gives an overview of the portion of differing land uses, arable land, grassland and pasture, forest and other kinds of land use, related to the total area of the Danube countries. The use of these country averages does not allow a calculation of an average for the total Danube river basin. The figure shows an increase of the share of arable land, and a decrease of forest, from the upper to the lower part of the Danube. Because most countries (Hungary is the exception) have only a portion of their territory in the Danube catchment, the estimation of a Danube average for the land use pattern is not possible using data on the country level. In addition, it must be considered that the average land use for the countries can deviate from the status within the parts of the countries only in the Danube basins. This is due to the inhomogenous distribution of land use within the countries.

Another source for information on the land use patterns in the Danube is the available CORINE land cover map. This data is not yet available for Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro, Ukraine and Moldova. Schreiber et al. (2003) tried to fill this gap by transferring of the USGS land cover map into the classes of CORINE. A similar procedure was ap-



Figure II.3 Portion of land use types in the total area of the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 (data source FAO the exception is Germany - DE* represents the land use for Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria according to the German Federal Statistical Office for the same period).

plied to establish the land cover map 6 for the total Danube River basin. As shown by information from Schreiber et al. (2005) for Bosnia and Herzegovina, such a transfer can lead to substantial deviations for the land use pattern. The advantage of using the land use patterns according CORINE is that it contains the higher segmentation for the land use classes, and the possibility to estimate the land use for the river basin, as well as the sub-catchments.

Figure II.4 shows, the land use patterns for those parts of the countries within the Danube basin, and the average for the whole Danube. If both figures are compared, it is obvious that the estimated portions of the arable land are higher based on CORINE data.

These differences are due to the different classification systems being used. The national statistics represent the actual uses of land whereas the CORINE data reflects the cover of the land according to the classification of satellite images. Because the resolution for the classification of CORINE is 25 ha, this procedure leads further to an overestimation of the dominant land cover (arable land and forest) and an underestimation of the other classes. For the total Danube the share of the land use is: arable land 47.4 %, grassland and pasture 6.2 %, forest 33.5 %, urban areas 3.9 %, surface water area 0.9 % and other areas including open land, wetlands and glaciers 8.0 %.



Figure II.4

Portion of land use types at the parts of countries within the Danube basin and the average for the total Danube according to CORINE land cover map and transferred USGS land cover map (source Schreiber et al., 2003).

Besides being influenced by the land use it self, the level of the emissions into the surface waters of a river system is also dependent on the intensity of the land use. Because agriculture activities are a main source for the diffuse nutrient emissions into the river system, it is important to show differences in intensity of use on a unique database. Statistical data for the countries is the best way to do this. Figure II.5 shows the consumption of nitrogen fertilizer used in agriculture of the Danube countries. The source of the data is the FAO agricultural statistics for the individual countries for the years 1998 to 2000 (http://apps.fao.org/cgi-bin/nph-db.pl?subset=agriculture). For Germany the information is not national but is from the federal states of Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria where the data of Behrendt et al. (2003) were used based on the German Statistical Yearbook (1999 to 2001). The figure includes also the average value for the 15 countries of the EU (before May 2004), and the maximum value reached within the set of countries. Further the area weighted average for the Danube basin is given.

From Figure II.5 three groups of countries can be distinguished. Germany, Slovenia and Czech Republic are the countries with a consumption of mineral nitrogen fertilizer of more than 50 kg/(ha·a) N, although there is a large difference between the amount of use in the three countries.

In the second group of countries (Austria, Slovak Republic, Croatia and Hungary) the use of mineral fertilizers in agriculture is low to moderate, between 25 and 50 kg/(ha·a) N. In all other countries the level of mineral fertilizer consumption is significantly below 25 kg/(ha·a) N. The area weighted average of consumption of N fertilizer was estimated as 31.4 kg/(ha·a) N for the Danube basin. Comparison with the average of the EU15 countries shows that the level of fertilizer consumption in the Danube basin is less than half this amount. The maximum of N fertilizer consumption reached in the EU15 countries is 5 times higher than in the Danube basin.

If N fertilizer consumption is calculated per inhabitant living in the countries an another picture emerges (see Figure II.6). The deviation between the countries, with exception of Bosnia i Herzegovina and Ukraine, is lower. The Danube average is 16.6 kg/(inh.·a). This is only 64 % compared to the average of the EU 15. The EU 15 maximum is also 4.5 times higher than the average of the Danube basins.







Figure II.6 Consumption of nitrogen fertilizers per inhabitant in the Danube countries, the EU 15 countries, and EU maximum value in the period 1998 to 2000 (*Data sources see Figure 5*).

In addition to the application of mineral fertilizer, the number of livestock is an indicator for determining land use intensities that affect diffuse nutrient inputs. Figure II.7 shows the livestock density as animal units per hectare agricultural area for the Danube countries. The animal unit (AU) corresponds to a live weight of 500 kg. Coefficients used for the conversion of animals of various types into the animal unit differ from state to state. In the Figures II.7 and II.8 the coefficients common in the Czech Republic and Germany, respectively are applied for the purpose of comparison. A systematic deviation is found when using the different equivalents. The animal unit number calculated with the German equivalents is on average only 79 % of the number found for the Czech equivalents. Figure II.7 includes the average for the total Danube basin for both kinds of animal units, as well as this indicator for the average of the EU 15 countries, and the maximum of these countries.

The countries with a density of 1 or 0.8 animal units per hectare and more are Germany, Austria and Slovenia. All other countries have a livestock density lower than 0.5 animal units. The reason for these low densities is that in most countries of eastern Europe there has been a strong reduction of livestock numbers after the changes of socio-economic conditions around 1990. The average density of animal units in the Danube basin is only 55 % of the EU 15 average. The maximum of the EU 15 countries is more than 7 times higher than the average of the Danube basin.



The deviation between the countries for the livestock density is much lower if this indicator is calculated as animal units per inhabitants living in the countries (see Figure 8).

Figure II.8 Animal units per agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000. (*The bars represent the animal units per agricultural area in the Danube countries. The data given for DE* represents the animal unit density of the German states Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria. The database is national statistics published by the statistical offices of the countries or by FAO, equivalents for Czech Republic and Germany were used).*





Figure II.9 Nitrogen surplus per agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 (*Data sources Schreiber et al. 2003, based on data of FAO and national statistics for German federal states*).

The group of countries with a value above the Danube average includes Romania and Ukraine. The average of the Danube is between 75 and 80 % of the livestock density of the EU15 but about 8 time lower than the EU15 maximum. This is due to the lower population density within the Danube than in the EU15 countries.

Consumption of mineral fertilizer and livestock density are the major sources of information on nutrient inputs from agriculture. If the inputs by atmospheric deposition, seeds and for nitrogen N-fixation, and the outputs by harvested crops are taken into account, then the nutrient surplus on agricultural area can be calculated. The procedure for this calculation can differ from country to country and within the countries. The results presented in Figure II.9 are for all Danube countries using the OECD procedure. The coefficients used for the transfer of the different livestock excreta and crops into nitrogen and phosphorus was the coefficients for the Czech Republic. As shown by Schreiber et al. (2003), the N surplus can differ within a minor range if the coefficients or procedures of other countries were applied. It should be pointed out that the application of different sets of coefficients for the individual countries would lead to systematic errors and consequently to incompatibilities of the data.

The high animal density, and the large consumption of mineral nitrogen fertilizer, is the reason that Germany and Slovenia are also the countries with the highest nitrogen sur-

plus per hectare agricultural area (see Figure II.9). The level of the N-surplus was 91 and 74 kg/(ha \cdot a) N respectively for the period 1998 to 2000.

From Figure II.5 and Figure II.7 a higher difference in the N-surplus between Germany and Slovenia could be expected, but higher specific nitrogen outputs by harvested crops partly compensate for the larger fertilizer consumption and higher animal density in Germany. For the second group of countries (Austria, Czech Republic and Croatia) the estimated N-surplus is moderate, between 30 and 50 kg/(ha·a) N. The level of the N-surplus of all other countries is below 25 kg/(ha·a) N. Figure II.9 presents the wide variation in nitrogen surplus between country and indicates that the potential for nitrogen inputs into the surface waters of the Danube from countries also varies widely.

The area weighted average of the N surplus within the Danube basin was estimated as 27 kg/(ha·a). In comparison to the EU15 countries this level of N surplus is only about 47%. The maximum of the EU15 countries is more than 9 times higher than the average of the Danube basin.

Because the annual phosphorus surplus on agricultural area is large part accumulated in the soil, one main indicator for diffuse P emissions into the river system is the longterm P accumulation on the agricultural area. This indicator provides a basis for determining the P emissions by erosion and surface runoff into the river system. Figure II.10 shows the estimated P accumulation on the agricultural area of the Danube countries.



Figure II.2 Phosphorus accumulation on agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1950 to 2000 (*Data sources Schreiber et al. 2003, based on data of FAO and national statistics for German federal states*).

According to Figure II.10 the highest P accumulation was estimated for Germany and Czech Republic. For these countries, the P-accumulation of agricultural soils is about the double of the value for the most of the other countries. Moldova and Ukraine have an estimated P-accumulation, which is half that of most countries.

The nitrogen surplus on the agricultural area, as well as the long term P accumulation on this area, reflects the differences of the intensity of land use. The interpretation of the consequences of these differences between countries involves more than examining the agricultural sector. The level of agricultural intensities in the countries is also dependent on the people living in the region. If consideration is given to this factor then the results will change.

Figure II.11 shows the agricultural area per inhabitant living in the countries. The figure shows that the agricultural area per inhabitant is the lowest in Germany and Slovenia, where only a little more than 0.2 ha per inhabitant are used for agriculture. A second group of countries has an inhabitant specific agricultural area of about 0.6 ha/inh. or more (Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, Ukraine and Moldova). This is at least three times higher than for Germany and Slovenia. The Danube average is 0.54. This is about 50 % higher than the EU15 average and more than 4 times higher than the minimum reached within the EU15 countries.



Figure II.3 Agricultural area per inhabitant living in the Danube countries, the EU 15 countries, the minimum in the EU 15 countries, as well as the population weighted average for the Danube basin for the period 1998 to 2000 (Data sources see Figure 9).





From this, the nutrient surplus per inhabitant can be calculated (see Figure II.11), which shows that the behaviour regarding nutrients is much more similar in the countries than may be deducted from the previous graphs.

Figure II.12 shows that one reason for the very high N surplus in Germany, in comparison to the most of the other Danube countries, is the highest population density. If this is taken into account, the variation of the agricultural intensities is much lower. The N surplus per inhabitant is very similar in Germany Austria, Czech Republic, Slovenia and Croatia (about 20 kg/inh.). The second group of countries (Slovak Republic, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, Ukraine and Moldova) possesses an N surplus per inhabitant between 10 and 15 kg/inh. Only for Bosnia and Herzegovina as well as Serbia and Montenegro the N surplus per inhabitant is below 10 kg/inh. The average of the N surplus per inhabitant within the Danube basin was estimated as 14.7 kg/(ha·a) N. This value corresponds to 67 % of the EU15 average and is about 7 times lower than the EU15 maximum.

II.4 Acknowledgements

The presented results originates from the EU research project "Nutrient Emissions in the Danube Basin and its Impact on the Black Sea" (daNUbs) supported under contract number EVK1-CT-2000-00051 by the Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development (EESD) Programme of the EU 5th Framework Programme. Details on the project can be found on the project homepage: http://:danubs.tuwien.ac.at. For data supply, support and helpful discussions we thank especially the members of the EMIS expert group of the ICPDR.

II.5 References

- BEHRENDT, H., VAN GILS, J., SCHREIBER, H. and ZESSNER, M. (2004): Point and diffuse nutrient emissions and loads in the transboundary Danube River Basin. III. Long term changes. (part III of this deliverable).
- FAOSTAT (2004): FAOSTAT2004, Population and Agriculture Data <u>http://apps.fao.org/cgi-bin/nph-db.pl?subset=agriculture</u>
- ICPDR (2000b): Emission Inventory 2000 Municipal and Industrial Discharges in the Danube River Basin. Danube Pollution Reduction Programme, International Commission for the Protection of the Danube River, Vienna, 192 p.
- OECD (1997): OECD national Soil surface Nutrient balances: 1985 to 1996. Explanatory notes. OECD Secretary, Paris, 16 p.
- SCHREIBER, H., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, L., CVITANIC, I., DRUMEA, D., JABUCAR, D., JURAN, S., PATAKI, B., SNISHKO, S. and ZESSNER, M. (2003): Harmonised Inventory of Point an Diffuse Emissons of Nitrogen and Phosphorus for a Transboundary River Basin. Final Report, Institut of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Berlin, 159 p.
- SCHREIBER, H., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, L.T., CVITANIC, I. DRUMEA, D., JABUCAR, D., JURAN, S., PATAKI, B., SNISHKO, S. & ZESSNER, M. (2004): Point and diffuse nutrient emissions and loads in the transboundary Danube river basin – a modelling approach. (part II of this deliverable).

III. Results of the revised model.

Schreiber, H.¹, Behrendt, H.¹, Constantinescu, L. Th.², Cvitanic, I.³, Drumea, D.⁴, Jabucar, D.⁵, Juran, S.⁶, Pataki, B.⁷, Snishko, S.⁸ and Matthias Zessner⁹³

III.1 Introduction

Increased and unbalanced riverine delivery of nutrients (N, P and Silicone (Si)) is known to cause coastal eutrophication, undesirable algal blooms and modifications of marine foodwebs (CONLEY et al., 1993, BILLEN & GARNIER, 1997, LANCELOT et al. 2002). The ecological functioning of the northwestern coastal area of the Black Sea has been strongly affected by coastal eutrophication during the last few decades (MEE, 1992, MEE & TOPPING, 1999; MEE, 2001, LANCELOT et al., 2002). High nutrient loads and their consequences are recognised as one of the most severe problems of the river Danube catchment area. The Danube, the second largest river system in Europe, with a catchment area of about 802,900 km² represents about 34 % of the total catchment area of the Black Sea (about 2,400,000 km² according to JAOSHVILI, 2002 and BEHRENDT, pers. comm.). The population living in the Danube catchment is about 43 % of the total population in the Black Sea basin (BEHRENDT, pers. comm.). 57.5 % of the freshwater (JAOSHVILI, 2002) and major parts of the sediment and nutrient loads entering the Black Sea originates from the Danube (GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL FACILITY BLACK SEA ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMME, 1997; MAKSIMOVIC & MAKROPOULUS, 2002). These facts illustrate that the state of the northwestern Black Sea is strongly dependent on the Danube. If the ecological state of the Black Sea is to be improved, the information about emission quantities, their sources, and their regional distribution is necessary. Further, the analysis of the present state of nutrient emissions and loads is a prerequisite for the establishment of management plans according to the European Water Framework Direc-

¹Leibniz-Institute for Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Mueggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany, <u>h.schreiber@igb-berlin.de</u> and <u>behrendt@igb-berlin.de</u>.

² Romanian Waters, National Administration, Str. Edgar Quinet 6, RO-70106 Bucharest, Romania, <u>teodor.constantinescu@rowater.ro</u>.

³ Environmental Agency of the Republic of Slovenia, Vojkova 1b, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia, <u>irena.cvitanic@gov.si</u>

⁴National Institute of Ecology, Academiei str., 6/1, ap. 25, MD-2028 Chisinau, Moldova.

⁵ Hydro-Engineering Institute Sarajevo, Stjepana Tomica 1, BA-71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina, <u>dalila.jabucar@heis.com.ba</u>

 ⁶ Water Research Institute, T.G.M., Drevarska 12, CZ-65757 Brno, Czech Republic, <u>sjur@atlas.cz</u>
 ⁷ Institute for Water Pollution Control, Water Resources Research Centre Plc., Kvassay Jeno út 1. H-1453 Budapest, Hungary, <u>patakibea@vituki.hu</u>.

⁸ Faculty for Geography, Taras Shevchenko National University, Vasylkiwska Str. 90, UA-03022 Kiew, Ukraine, <u>sergej@snizhko.kiev.ua</u>.

⁹ Institute for Water Quality and Waste Management, Vienna University of Technology, Vienna, Karlsplatz 13, A - 1040 Austria, <u>mzessner@iwag.tuwien.ac.at</u>.

Because 18 countries are placed within the Danube catchment, (13 countries with more than 1% of the total catchment area) the Danube is the most transboundary river system in the world. Due to the different social and economic situations in the Danube countries the analysis of the nutrient situation is a very complex task.

Former studies estimated the nutrient emissions in the Danube River Basin at a national level using different databases and methods (EU/AR102A91, 1997; HASKONING, 1994, SOMLOYDY et al., 1999). These investigations do not include all Danube countries due to the political situation in some Danube countries. The results of these studies were published by ZESSNER & GILS (1999). On the other hand the existing transnational emission study of GARNIER ET AL. (2002) is very raw in relation to the diffuse nutrient emissions and weak in relation to the data base of the population living in the Upper Danube (see below).

Within the this study a harmonised database was established for the time period 1998-2000 and a model for estimation of nutrient inputs was applied at catchment level. This model allows the identification of regional distribution of nutrient influx in relation to input pathways and the assessment of potential management options to change the nutrient loads. In the following, a short overview is given concerning the database and the used method. Subsequently, the main results of the analysis of nutrient inputs within the Danube river basin are presented and discussed. A more detailed presentation of the database, the applied methods and the results is given by SCHREIBER et al. (2003) and BEHRENDT et al. (2000, 2003).

III.2 Database and method

In order to apply a unified methodology for the analysis of nutrient inputs from point and diffuse sources in the river system of the Danube and their regional distribution, the compilation of a harmonised database was necessary. In addition the database had to be integrated into a Geographic Information System (GIS). The database comprises :

- The digital river net from "Digital Charts of the World" (ESRI, 1:1 Million, 1991/1992).
- The digital elevation model (DEM) Hydro 1K from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) with a spatial resolution of 30 arcsec. The DEM and the digital river net were used for the derivation of the borders of the total Danube Basins and the sub-catchments areas,.

- The sub-catchment borders of the river basin upstream of the stations from the Trans National Monitoring Network (TNMN) from the International Commission for the Protection of the Danube River (ICPDR, 2000a) and selected stations from the national networks of the Danube countries. Considering the different countries and their shares at the sub-basin level the whole river system of the Danube was divided into 388 sub-catchments with a size between 40 km² to 16,000 km².
- The land use after CORINE Land Cover (CLC) with a resolution of 100x100 m (EEA, 2002) resp. 250x250 m for the part of Switzerland (BUNDESAMT FÜR LANDESTOPOGRAFIE). Because such a database is not yet available for Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro, Moldova and Ukraine, the land cover database from USGS with a spatial resolution of 1000x1000 m (USGS 1997) was used for these countries after adaptation to land cover classes of CLC (SCHREIBER & BEHRENDT, 2004).
- The digital FAO soil map (FAO, 1997) with a scale of 1:5 000 000 was used for the characterisation of physico-chemical properties of the soils, e.g. texture and nitrogen content in the topsoil.
- For the separation of the shares of consolidated and unconsolidated rock areas within the sub-basins a digital map was made available from the Netherlands National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM).
- For the calculations at sub-catchment level, hydrometeorological input data with a
 resolution of one degree from the Global Precipitation Climatology Centre (GPCC)
 of the German Weather Service (DWD) were used for the period 1998-2000. In addition maps of longterm precipitation and runoff were digitised from the Danube
 Atlas published by REGIONALE ZUSAMMENARBEIT DER DONAULÄNDER (1986).
- For the estimation of the atmospheric nitrogen deposition the results of the EMEP-Program (Co-operative Programme for Monitoring and Evaluation of the Long-Range Transmission of Air Pollutants in Europe) from the Norwegian Institute for Air Research (NILU) were used for the years 1998,1999 and 2000. The spatial resolution of these data was 50 km per grid cell.
- For the calculation of the nutrient inputs by erosion the digital map of sediment yield from the RIVM (KLEPPER ET AL., 1995) was used.
- The administrative boundaries considered at different levels (countries, regions, districts and municipals) are based on the data from MACON (1999) for the year 1999 with the scale of 1:1 Million.
- For the estimation of the population, the respective national official statistics at municipal level were used.
- For the identification of the location and size of point discharges from municipal and industrial waste water treatment plants, the Waste Water Treatment Plant

(WWTP) inventory of ICPDR (2000b) was taken into account. This database includes only 75 % of the point dischargers and was therefore completed by data og national inventories for Germany (LfW Bavaria, Munich and LfU Baden-Wuerttemberg, Karlsruhe), Austria (Federal Environmental Agency, Vienna), Slovakia (by the Water Research Institute, Bratislava), Hungary (by the Department of Sanitary and Environmental Engineering, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, BUTE) and the inventory of the PHARE-project (EU/AR102A/91, 1997) which was supplied by the Institute for Water Quality and Waste Management, University of Technology Vienna.

• For the calculation of the discharges in the sub-catchments of the Danube and the verification of the model results based on observed loads, the database of the TNMN from the ICPDR for the period 1998-2000 was used. This inventory comprises information on discharges and nutrient concentrations from monitoring stations in the Danube river system. Considering the results from national monitoring programmes, the ICPDR inventory was extended so that a total of 93 stations were considered regarding loads of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and 65 stations for total phosphorus loads (TP).

The agricultural data required for the calculation of nutrient inputs from diffuse sources in the sub-catchments were compiled based on statistical informations on country level (Slovenia, Croatia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Serbia & Montenegro, Bulgaria, Moldova and Ukraine) or on smaller administrative levels (Germany, Austria, Romania, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary and Romania). The OECD method (OECD, 1997) was uniformly used for the calculation of the nutrient balances. Data for the estimation of the share of tile drained areas at the agricultural area were not available for all countries. The MONERIS (MOdelling Nutrient Emissions into RIver Systems) model was applied to estimate the nutrient inputs by point and diffuse sources into the Danube river system. MONERIS is a model designed to quantify annual average total nitrogen and total phosphorus emissions from catchments to surface waters. It is based on a combination of several conceptual model approaches. Basic input information entering the model are data on river flow and water quality, extensive statistical information for different administrative levels and scales, such as number of inhabitants, crop statistics, livestock number, etc. as well as information from digital maps integrated in a geographical information system (GIS). Whereas inputs from municipal wastewater treatment plants and industrial discharges enter the river system directly, diffuse nutrient inputs into the surface waters arise from a number of different pathways realised by several runoff components (see Figure III.1) as surface runoff, base flow and interflow. Distinction among the inputs from the different runoff components is necessary because the concen-

trations of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) within the runoff components and the processes within these are very different. Consequently, MONERIS takes seven pathways into account:

- point sources (as municipal water waste treatment plants (WWTP), direct industrial discharges and discharges from people connected to sewers but not to WWTP's) $(E_{POINT}),$
- atmospheric deposition directly on the



Figure III.1: Pathways and processes in MONERIS.

water surface (E_{DEP}),

- erosion (only particulate nutrients) (E_{ERO}),
- surface runoff (only dissolved nutrients) (E_{RO}),
- groundwater (including the inputs coming from natural interflow) (E_{GW}),
- tile drainage (E_{DR}) and
- paved urban areas (inputs from combined sewer overflows, from areas connected to separate sewer systems, from areas connected to sewers without treatment and areas not connected to sewer systems) (E_{URB}).

Along the pathway from the source to the emission into the river, substances are governed by manifold processes of transformation, retention and loss dependent on the hydrological and morphological conditions within the river system. To quantify and forecast the nutrient inputs into river systems in relation to their source requires knowledge of these transformation and retention processes. Because the current state of knowledge and existing databases are limited for large-scale river basins, this is not yet possible in terms of detailed dynamic process models. Therefore, existing approaches of macroscale modeling are needed to be complemented and modified. An important step in the development of the individual sub-models in MONERIS was to validate these models by comparing the results with independent data sets. For example, the groundwater submodel was validated with measured groundwater concentrations.

The ascertained nutrient emissions by MONERIS are validated by comparing the observed river load with a calculated load. In MONERIS the processes of retention and loss within a river system, e.g. sedimentation, denitrification and plant uptake, are taken into account by an empirical retention module (BEHRENDT & OPITZ, 1999). It is also possible to estimate the loads based on the nutrient inputs and to compare the model results with the loads calculated from measured nutrient concentrations and discharges. A complete description of MONERIS was published by BEHRENDT et al. (2000) and BEHRENDT et al. (2002). In this paper only major modifications for the Danube River Basin are described. A detailed description is given by SCHREIBER et al. (2003).

Even though the measured discharges are entered as input data for the modeling, the shares of the runoff components at the total runoff within the sub-catchments must be estimated. Thus the surface runoff, the runoff from tile drained areas and paved urban areas, as well as the runoff caused by snow melt were estimated by empirical equations. For the application in the Danube River Basin, a modification of the approach for the calculation of the surface runoff (SCHREIBER et al., 2003) was necessary.



Figure III.2: Dependency of the mean annual surface runoff on the total runoff for different river catchments in Germany and for the case study catchments of the EU-project daNUbs.

This approach describes the relation between the annual average of surface and total runoff by a power function (see Figure III.2). Figure III.2 demonstrates that the results of this approach are comparable with the results of the hydrological models SWAT and DIFGA applied for case study catchments within the daNUbs-project (EVK1-CT-2001-00051, SCHILLING et al, 2003).

With the MONERIS model, the individual components of the water balance (except the base flow) were calculated based on empirical equations and longterm total runoff from digital maps (see database). The total runoff values for the individual sub-catchments were corrected by a factor to minimize the difference between the mean of the measured discharge values for the period 1998-2000 at the outlet of the catchments (resp. monitoring stations) and the correspondingly total longterm runoff values. The calculation of nutrient inputs based on the mean of a three year period enhances the identification of changes in nutrient inputs caused by anthropogenic activities and improves the comparison of different states of nutrient inputs. This should also be appropriate to exclude errors caused by shorter periods in hydrological and meteorological time series.

The model allows not only the quantification of the present state of nutrient inputs by pathways, but also the estimation of background conditions based on scenario calculations (BEHRENDT et al., 2003). In addition, an analysis of the nutrient input state related

to different anthropogenic activities like agriculture, water and waste water management was undertaken.

In the present study, the estimations were performed with the same methodology for all 388 catchments within the whole Danube River Basin for the time period 1998 to 2000. The results of calculations are aggregated for the major sub-basins grouped according to the ICPDR (Table III.1, Figure III.4). With exception of the changed approach for the calculation of the surface runoff and the adaptation of the model with regard to the different digital map for the soil losses by water erosion the model was not calibrated for the application for the Danube Basin.

Table III.1:	Major features of sub-basins and calculated specific phosphorus (P) and nitrogen
	(N) emissions into surface waters, the relative share of total N and P emissions by
	diffuse sources within the Danube and its tributaries in the period 1998-2000.

Subbasins ¹		Popula- tion den-	Specific runoff	Catch- ment	Share agric.	Specific nutrient in- puts		Share of diffuse sources	
		Sity		area	alca	ТР	TN _.	TP	TN
		Inh./km ²	l·km ⁻² ·s ⁻¹	km²	%	kg·ha ⁻¹ ·y ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹ ·y ⁻¹	%	%
1	Upper Danube	170	15.2	49,940	55.7	821	19.5	76.0	87.5
2	Inn	90	29.5	26,070	32.1	980	15.2	81.6	92.3
3	Austrian Danube	97	16.8	26,240	46.3	648	10.6	83.0	88.6
4	Morava	117	3.4	26,650	63.2	879	10.4	62.8	75.6
5	Vah, Hron, Ipel	107	5.4	29,840	51.3	782	13.2	72.3	86.1
6	Pannonian Danube	148	2.8	60,370	67.1	1071	8.3	33.5	47.8
7	Drava	80	14.1	40,310	40.6	753	9.2	64.8	83.8
8	Sava	90	13.8	95,890	39.8	989	10.0	45.3	79.0
9	Tisza	89	7	151,780	57.8	672	7.8	56.3	78.1
10	Banat-East. Serbia	83	4.5	28,940	60.6	1277	8.7	37.4	59.5
11	Velika Morava	105	5	37,630	33	809	5.7	36.4	69.7
12	Mizia-Dobrudscha	70	5.4	54,060	55.2	964	7.9	45.4	68.7
13	Muntenia	121	6.3	82,250	63.8	874	8.9	43.3	70.4
14	Prut-Siret	95	5.3	73,470	56.6	716	7.00	69.9	78.3
15	Delta-Liman	62	0.5	19,450	71.3	451	4.5	50.9	69.9
Dan	ube total	102	8.6	802,890	53.7	841	841 9.4		76.9

¹Sub-basins according to ICPDR (2000); ²based on CORINE and USGS-Land Cover-map

III.3 Results and Discussion

III.3.1 Characteristics of the river system and nutrient balances

Based on the harmonised database for the Danube River Basin, Table III.1 shows the estimated areas for the sub-basins, the share of agricultural area, the mean population density, and the mean specific runoff in the sub-basins and for the whole Danube catchment. In the current study, a total catchment area of 802,900 km² was estimated for the Danube. This differs from the previously published area of 817,000 km² (UNDP/GEF, 1999; DOMOKOS, 2001). The shares of the different country catchment area differ for the two references. Especially the figures given from UNDP/GEF (1999) for the countries with small shares at the Danube catchment area (Switzerland, Italy and Poland together 14770 km²) are contradictory to the results of our study (3300 km²) and the results of DOMOKOS (2001) (3100 km²). On the other hand the catchment area of the main Danube countries estimated by the GIS analysis of this study (799,600 km²) is very similar to the results of UNDP/GEF (1999) (802200 km²) but different to the area of 814300 km² given by DOMOKOS (2001).

The calculated sub-basin areas presented in Table III.1 are based on the digital elevation model and the rivernet by using the projection Lambert Azimuthal Equal-Area with the central meridian at 20° and the reference latitude of 55°. The total population of 82.2 million people living in the Danube in the period 1998 to 2000 corresponds to a mean population density of 102 inhabitants/km². The population density varies in the Danube sub-basins from 62 to 170 Inh/km². The highest population density was identified within the subcatchment of the upper Danube (8.5 million people). This is in large contrast to the population assumed by GARNIER et al. (2002) for this subcatchment (1.5 million people).

The hydrological conditions in the Danube Basin differ also in a wide range. The specific runoff varies in the main sub basins of the Danube between 0.5 and 29.5 $1 \text{ km}^{-2} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$. Agricultural areas contribute to total sub-basin area between 32% and 71%. According to the differences of these main indicators one can also expect large differences between the nutrient inputs into the river systems of the sub-basins. The different intensities in the use of agricultural areas multiply these ranges of potential nutrient inputs.



Figure III.3: N-surplus normalised to agricultural area of the Danube countries according to CORINE land cover in the period 1998-2000 (DE* = only Bavaria and Baden-Wuerttemberg).

Figure III.3 gives an overview of the nitrogen surplus calculated for the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 by the application of the OECD-method (OECD, 1997). According to this method, the soil surface balance is calculated as the difference between the total quantity of nutrient inputs entering the soil and the quantity of nutrient outputs leaving the soil annually. The estimate of the annual quantity of nutrient inputs for the soil surface nitrogen balance includes the mineral fertilisers, livestock manure nutrient production, atmospheric deposition of nutrients, biological nitrogen fixation and nutrients contained in seeds and planting material. The estimate of the annual quantity of nutrient outputs for the soil surface nutrient balance includes the harvested and forage crops. The calculations performed for the different countries are based on the agricultural statistics and nutrient equivalents for livestock and crops (SCHREIBER ET AL., 2003). In order to estimate the nutrient surplus within the regions of the Danube catchment area, agricultural area was calculated by CORINE land cover and not the published national statistics.

The figure shows three groups of countries with a similar level of nitrogen surplus on the agricultural area. In the German catchment area of the Danube the nitrogen surplus related to the agricultural area after CORINE land cover is about 75 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ and about 50 % higher than for the second group of countries (Croatia, Austria, Slovenia and Czech Republic) with N-surpluses between 35 and 55 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ for the period 1998-

For a number of countries it was possible to estimate also the long term changes in nitrogen surplus on the agricultural area, based on the statistical information of the countries. The knowledge about the long term changes in N-surplus is necessary for the estimation of nutrient inputs by groundwater. Due to the fact that the residence time of the water in the unsaturated zone and in the groundwater varies in very large ranges (years to centuries, KUNKEL & WENDLAND, 1997) one can expect that the present Nconcentrations are influenced by anthropogenic activities in the past. BEHRENDT et al. (this volume, Figure III.2) shows this longterm trend for Germany, Austria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria. In all countries there is an increase of the nitrogen surplus until the beginning of the 1980s. Since the 1990s one can observe a great decrease of nitrogen surplus for the Eastern European countries, remaining at a nearly constant level since 1995. The main reason is the remarkable decrease of mineral fertilizer application and of livestock numbers in the agriculture of these countries. Since the mid of 1980s Germany and Austria also show a moderate to low decrease of nitrogen surplus.

III.3.2 Nutrient input pathways and sources

The total P-emissions into the Danube River Basin were about 68 kt/y in the period 1998-2000 (Table III.2). A total of 44 % of the P-emissions originated from municipal waste water treatment plants (WWTP), industrial waste water discharges and inhabitants which are connected to sewerage systems but not to WWTP's. Erosion (38 %) was the main diffuse source of P in the Danube River Basin. P-emissions into the surface waters by urban areas, groundwater and natural interflow as well as surface runoff contributed 7 % and 6 %, respectively, to the total P-emissions. Other sources are of minor importance for the P-emissions into the river system of the Danube.

The total amount and the sources of P-emissions vary between the tributaries (Ta-

		Edep	E _{RO}	E _{DR}	E _{ERO}	E_{GW}	E _{URB}	Epoint	$\mathrm{E_{tot}}^1$
Phosphorus	kt/y	0.9	2.2	0.4	23.3	4.6	31.5	4.6	67.5
	%	1.3	3.2	0.6	34.6	6.9	46.6	6.8	100.0
Nitragan	kt/y	32.0	76.6	67.0	30.0	333.7	174.3	42.3	755.8
nurogen	%	4.2	10.1	8.9	4.0	44.2	23.1	5.6	100.0
1									

Table III.2:Nutrient emissions by point and diffuse pathways into the Danube River Ba-
sin in the period 1998-2000.

 1 E_{tot} = total emissions of all pathways

ble III.1). The average of specific P-emission for the whole Danube River Basin is of $0.84 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1}$, whereas the highest specific P-inputs were in Banat-Eastern Serbia (1.28 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹) and Pannonian Danube sub-basin (1.07 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹). The reason for this high specific P-inputs is the high portion of point sources is for these both catchments (67% Pannonian Danube; 63% Banat-Eastern Serbia), due to low waste water treatment and moderate population densities.

For N the situation concerning the emissions into the Danube River system is different due to the geo-chemical conditions in the subcatchments. 23 % of the total N-emissions are caused by point sources, 77 % by diffuse sources. Groundwater is the main source of the N-emissions in the Danube River Basin containing 44 %. The contribution of surface runoff and tile drained areas were 10 % and 9 %, respectively. Other sources (atmospheric deposition, erosion and urban areas) contribute only 4-6 % to the total N-emissions and are of minor importance for the whole Danube catchment. Nevertheless the contribution by these pathways can be important for individual catchments (SCHREIBER et al., 2003).

As with P, N-emissions and sources differ considerably between regions. The mean specific N-emission for the whole Danube River Basin is of 9.4 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹. The highest specific N-emissions come from the Upper Danube $(19.5 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1})$ and the Inn (15.3 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹). Specific N-emissions larger than 10 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ were also found in the Austrian Danube, the Morava, the Sava and the Vah-Hron-Ipel sub-basin. The high specific N-emissions in these sub-basins resulted from the high N-surplus in the upper part of the Danube River Basin e.g. in the German and Czech part of the Danube, and the high specific flow conditions in the German, Austrian, Slovakian and Slovenian regions. The high N-emissions in the Czech part are due to the high portion of tile drained areas. The N-emissions further in the other subbasins are below $10.0 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1}$ due to the low percolation rate of water and higher N-retention in the unsaturated zone and in the groundwater. This highest N-retention in the subsoil and groundwater was found in the Pannonian lowlands and in the Delta-Liman sub-basin. Together with low N-surplus and low point source discharges the consequence is that the Delta-Liman sub-basin is the subcatchment of the Danube with the lowest N-emissions (4.5 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹). If the analysis is performed with smaller catchment areas, larger differences in both total N-emissions and relative contributions of specific pathways are observed (Figure III.4).

The diffuse portion of N-inputs, was the highest in the Inn sub-basin (92 %) and is well above the average for the total Danube River Basin (77 %). The lowest portion of diffuse N-emissions (48 %) was found in the Pannonian Danube.


Figure III.4: Regional distribution of mean specific nitrogen emissions into surface water in the Danube River Basin calculated with MONERIS for the period 1998-2000.

Figure III.4 presents the regional distribution of specific total nitrogen emissions into surface water in the different Danube River catchments for the period 1998-2000. The highest specific N-emissions originate from the catchments in the upper part of the Danube, the Morava, the upper Sava, the tributaries of the Tisza, the upper Siret and the upper Prut catchments exceeding 15 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ N. High N-emissions are also found in those sub-catchments of the Danube containing major cities (Vienna, Bratislava, Budapest, Sofia, Bucharest).

For evaluation of the present state of nutrient emissions in the Danube river system it is necessary to distinguish between emissions caused by natural conditions and those caused by human activities. This is only possible if the emissions under background conditions (independent of human influence) are estimated. Knowledge on the background conditions is also necessary for the definition of the water quality targets in the European Water Framework Directive. For this reason the background emissions where estimated with the MONERIS model supported by a background scenario (SCHREIBER et al., 2003). The scenario is based on the mean annual discharge conditions from 1998-2000, and the following assumptions that define the background conditions for the Danube River Basin:

- Nutrient inputs from point sources, urban areas and drainage are assumed to be non-existent.
- Agricultural and urban areas are considered to be either forest or permanent grassland.
- Soil input through erosion except from areas subject to natural erosion (alpine and foothills) is ignored.
- For the background conditions a constant nitrogen deposition is assumed for all regions (see BEHRENDT et al., 2003). The amount of the potential N-deposition at background condition was estimated by a comparison of the estimated TN-concentrations in the rivers of the Danube catchments with background concentrations published by SMITH ET AL. (2003) for streams and rivers in the United states. These authors found that the background concentration for nitrogen varies between less than 0.02 to more than 0.5 mg L⁻¹. If we assumed for the background scenario a N-deposition of 1 kg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, the estimated TN concentrations within the Danube subcatchments were in a range of 0.03 to 0,49 mg L⁻¹ and agree well with the possible range given by SMITH ET AL. (2003).
- The P-concentrations in groundwater is assumed to be identical in all wetlands.
- The ratio of total to dissolved phosphorus concentration under anaerobic groundwater conditions is assumed to be 1.5 instead of 2.5.

The modelling results in background emissions of approximately 6.5 kt/y P and 61 kt/y N for the Danube river system. This corresponds to specific background emissions of about $0.08 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1} \text{ P}$ and $0.7 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1} \text{ N}$. Catchments in mountainous regions have higher background emissions due to the occurrence of natural erosion and high precipitation and high surface runoff. Anthropogenic activities increased the phosphorous and nitrogen emissions between 940 % and 1150 % of the background levels. Based on the nutrient emissions for the diffuse pathways and for the background conditions it is possible to calculate the proportion of emissions related to agricultural activities are all emissions from surface runoff, erosion, groundwater and tile drained area less the background emissions. For nitrogen it was additionally assumed that the atmospheric deposition of ammonium is caused by agricultural activities.

Figure III.5 shows the contribution of human activities to the total phosphorus and nitrogen emissions for the sub-basins of the Danube River. Background emissions contribute between 1 % and 41 % to the P-emissions and 4 % and 16 % to the N-emissions. This contribution from background emissions is remarkably higher in catchments with alpine or mountainous areas like in the catchments of Inn, Austrian Danube, Drava or Sava.





The mean contribution from agricultural P-emissions is approx. 30 % for the total Danube River Basin and varies in the sub-basins from 20 % to 53 %.

The largest contributions to P-emissions are found in the sub-basins Prut-Siret, Vah-Hron-Ipel,Morava, Austrian and Upper Danube. Regarding the N-emissions into the river system of the Danube the agricultural sources are dominant for all sub-basins with exception of the Pannonian Danube, Banat-Eastern Serbia and Velika Morava. The mean contribution to N-emissions related to agricultural activities is 46 % for the total Danube River Basin. The highest portion of N-emissions by agricultural sources was identified for the the Upper Danube (63 %) and the Morava sub-basin (58 %).

The point and diffuse P-emissions from urban settlements are in most of the sub-basins between 23 % and 73 % of the total P-emissions. The highest values were found in the Pannonian Danube (73 %) and Velika Morava (71 %). The reason for these high P-emissions is the low level of P-elimination in the existing WWTP's and the persisting use of phosphorus in detergents in some Danube countries (see SCHREIBER et al., 2003).

III.3.3 Comparison with measured data and model uncertainties

Based on river parameters as hydraulic load and specific runoff (BEHRENDT & OPITZ, 1999), the loads for the Danube River sub-basins could be calculated from the emissions, by application of the retention functions of MONERIS for nitrogen and phosphorus. Additionally it was assumed that the Iron Gate reservoir can retain nutrients to a certain amount. The percentage of this retention was estimated by the application of the Danube Water Quality Model (DWQM). The simulations of the DWQM (DANUBS, 2004) show that the Iron Gate retains about 32% of Phosphorus and 6% of nitrogen. The calculated nutrient loads could be compared with the observed loads calculated from the measured nutrient concentrations and discharges at the monitoring stations. For dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN, loads at 93 monitoring stations) the mean deviation is 21.2 % and for total nitrogen (TN, loads at 16 monitoring stations) 20.5 % (Figure III.6). The figures for deviation between calculated and observed loads within the Danube river system are comparable with the findings for other river systems (BEHRENDT et al., 2003, BEHRENDT et al., 2004a). The highest deviation in observed nitrogen loads were found within the Hungarian part of the Danube and some Romanian catchments. The comparison shows a low tendency that the calculated loads are systematically lower than the observed loads of DIN. The reason for the large deviations could be an underestimated annual observed DIN-load as well as an overestimated retention or emission in these river systems. It is assumed that one reason for the scarce large deviations of the DIN-load especially in the Pannonian Danube is an overestimation of the surface water area which was derived for German rivers, where the plains are often wet and artificially drained by ditches. For the dry areas of the Pannonian plains the surface water area could probably be overestimated with the applied equation. In this case the retention would be overestimated.

For total phosphorus (TP, loads at 65 monitoring stations) the mean deviation between the calculated and observed loads (Figure III.6) within the river system of the Danube was 32 %. This is about 10 % higher than for nitrogen.



Figure III.6: Comparison of observed and calculated total phosphorus loads (TP, bottom) and nitrogen loads (DIN, top, TN, middle) in the Danube and its sub catchments for the period 1998-2000.

The analysis of the loads shows also a small tendency that the calculated P-loads with the MONERIS model are below the observed loads. A more detailed analysis of the catchments with high underestimation of P-loads shows that most of these catchments are also located in the the Pannonian Danube. Also for phosphorus it can be assumed that the deviations are caused due to overestimation of the P-retention (overestimation of the water surface area) or the underestimation of total P-emissions with the model (SCHREIBER et al., 2003) and underestimation of the observed TP-loads. The comparison of the point source discharges estimated on the Hungarian point source inventory (this study) and more detailed investigations for two Hungarian subcatchments (KOVACS, 2004) indicates that the point source discharges of the inventory could be in general to low. But more reasonable for the larger deviation between the observed and calculated TP loads seems to be an underestimation of the observed loads, especially for smaller catchments with low (monthly) frequency of measurements. Different authors (e.g. KLAVERS, H. & DE VRIES, A., 1993 cited in DE WIT, 1999) have shown that a bias of the nutrient load exists for such conditions, which is substantial higher for substances with a high portion of the particulate fraction (phosphorus) as for substances mostly transported in dissolved forms (nitrogen). The reason is probably the high dynamic of the input as well as the transport processes for the suspended solids, which is not recorded at monthly sampling.

Within the Danube the deviation between calculated and observed nutrient loads is lower in the sub-catchments of the upper parts (19 % for nitrogen and 29% for phosphorus. For the most of these sub-catchments the spatial resolution of the input data is better than for the subcatchments of the lower Danube, where the deviations were 23 % (N) and 35 % (P). Furthermore the mean deviation between calculated and observed loads was only 14 % (N) and 20 % (P) for the 22 stations along the main stream of the Danube (see also BEHRENDT et al., 2004b, this volume). Both findings indicate that the model results are also to a large extent dependently on the resolution of input data. Input data with higher spatial resolution especially for the Danube part below Hungary can substantially improve the model results.

The estimated nutrient loads for the Danube upstream the station Reni were 22.5 kt/y for total phosphorus (TP), 396 kt/y for dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and 468 kt/y for total nitrogen (TN) for the period 1998 to 2000. Van Gils et al. (2004) estimated for the Danube at Reni (station direct upstream the Danube delta) a load of about 17.8 kt/y for TP and 462 kt/y for DIN for the same time period. Compared to these the results the calculated loads deviate from the observed loads at 26,5 % (TP) and 14 % (DIN). The mean deviation for the eight main stations analysed by VAN GILS et al. (2004) was 26 and 10 % for TP and DIN, respectively.

A measure for the quality of the model is according to MAYER & BUTLER (1993) the model efficiency. The model efficiency (EF) can be calculated by the following equation:

$$EF = 1 - \frac{\sum (y_i - y_{ci})^2}{\sum (y_i - y_m)^2}$$

where y_i represent observed values, y_{ci} calculated values and y_m the average of all observed values.

The highest possible value for the model efficiency is 1. A value of 0 will be reached for the very simple model, which is equal to the average of all observed data.

If the model efficiency is calculated for the nutrient loads of all stations the results is 0.93 and 0.95 for total phosphorus and dissolved inorganic nitrogen. This high model efficiency for the nutrient loads is mostly determined by the stations with the largest loads. Therefore the model efficiency was also calculated for the specific nutrient loads (load divided by the catchment area upstream the station). For this case the model efficiency is 0.41 for TP and 0.75 for DIN. Whereas the model efficiency can be evaluated as high for nitrogen for original nitrogen loads and the specific load, the efficiency of the model is relatively low for the specific phosphorus loads. This indicates that a main task for the development of the model is the improvement of database and the process description regarding the pathways dominating the P-emissions as erosion. But this needs also the improvement of the observations especially measurement with higher frequency or dependent on discharge.

III.4 Conclusions

The analysis has shown that the MONERIS model is suitable for modelling of nutrient emissions and loads of a large transboundary river basin. Amongst the individual subbasins and the whole Danube River Basin the nutrient emissions and the share in the various emission pathways vary to a relatively large extent. The results of calculations allow the identification of regional hot spots, and the derivation of specific regional measures to reduce the emissions into the Danube and consequently into the Black Sea. The mean deviation between the measured and calculated nitrogen loads is in the same range as found for other river catchments. The deviation for P-loads is about 5% higher. Problems and uncertainties in the results are mainly caused by insufficient spatial and temporal resolution of data and maps. Estimated nutrient emissions are highly dependent on information of nitrogen surplus in topsoils and the proportion of different soil types. Thus a better resolution of information on land use for Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro, Bosnia-Herzegovina and the Ukraine as well as statistical data would increase the spatial resolution for the estimation of nutrient surplus of agricultural areas for the district or regional level for these parts in the Danube River Basin. A better information on soil properties (basin wide) could also improve the reliability of the calculations. The nitrogen emissions via groundwater are sensitive to the proportion of different types of aquifers which influences the travelling time, hence a better spatial resolution on hydrogeology is also required to improve the model results. Also the enlargement of point source inventory including more information on population connected to sewer systems and WWTP's is a further need to enhance the model calculations. An improvement of the results could be expected by further adaptation of the model approaches, especially for erosion. The next step of model development should focus on the implementation of the results from the case study regions addressed in particular to the water balance, erosion, groundwater and retention (Schilling et al., 2004). The Comparison of results from different model approaches can help to identify sources of uncertainties of conceptual models like MONERIS. Here, the comparison of down- and up-scaling approaches, if applicable in combination with process based models, could give interesting results for further error quantifications.

For derivation of effective management measures the future research should concentrate on scenario calculations. The aimed targets for scenario calculations should also take into account the European Water Framework Directive and the European Waste Water Directive to ensure the close connection of research results with policy and management stemming from the Danube River Protection Convention (DRCP).

III.5 Acknowledgements

The presented results originates from the research project "Harmonised Inventory of Point and Diffuse Emissions of Nitrogen and Phosphorus in the Danube Basin" founded and supported by the German Federal Environmental Agency, Berlin, and the project "Nutrient Emissions in the Danube Basin and its Impact on the Black Sea" (daNUbs) supported under contract number EVK1-CT-2000-00051 by the Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development (EESD) Programme of the EU 5th Framework Programme. Details on the project can be found on the project homepage: http://:danubs.tuwien.ac.at. For data supply, support and helpful discussions we thank especially the members of the EMIS and MLIM expert group of the ICPDR. We address our particular thanks to the national consultants, Research Institutes and States Agencies for providing the basic data for the estimation of the nutrient emissions and loads into the river system of the Danube.

III.6 References

- BEHRENDT, H. and OPITZ, D. (1999): Retention of nutrients in river systems: Dependence on specific runoff and hydraulic load. Hydrobiologia **410**: 111-122.
- BEHRENDT, H., HUBER, P., KORNMILCH, M., OPITZ, D., SCHMOLL, O., SCHOLZ, G. and UEBE, R. (2000): Nutrient Emissions into river basins of Germany. UBA-Texte, 23/00, Federal Environmental Agency, Berlin, 266 p.
- BEHRENDT, H., KORNMILCH, M., OPITZ, D., SCHMOLL, O. and SCHOLZ, G. (2002): Estimation of the nutrient inputs into river systems -experiences from German rivers. -Regional Environmental Changes 3: 107-117.
- BEHRENDT, H., BACH, M., KUNKEL, R., OPITZ, D., PAGENKOPF, W.-G., SCHOLZ, G. and WENDLAND, F. (2003): Quantifizierung der N\u00e4hrstoffeintr\u00e4ge der Oberfl\u00e4chengew\u00e4sser Deutschlands auf der Grundlage eines harmonisierten Vorgehens. UBA-Texte 82/03, Federal Environmental Agency, Berlin, 191 p.
- Behrendt, H., Dannowski, R., Deumlich, D., Dolezal, F., Kajewski, I., Kornmilch, M., Korol, R., Mioduszewski, W., Opitz, D., Steidl, J. and Stronska, M. (2004a): Point and diffuse emissions of pollutants, their retention in the river system of the Odra and scenario calculations on possible changes. Weissensee Publisher, Berlin, 300 p. (in print).
- BEHRENDT, H., VAN GILS, J., SCHREIBER, H. and ZESSNER, M. (2004b): Point and diffuse nutrient emissions and loads in the transboundary Danube River Basin. II. Long term changes. Arch. Hydrobiol., Suppl. Large Rivers (this volume, in print).
- BILLEN, G. and GARNIER, J. (1997): The Phison River plume: coastal eutrophication in response to changes in land use and water management in the watershed. -Aquatic Microbial Ecology 13: 3-17.
- CONLEY, D. J., SCHELSKE, C. L. and STOERMER, E. F. (1993): Modification of the biogeochemical cycle of silica with eutrophication. - Marine Ecology Progress Series **101**: 179-192.
- DANUBS (2004): Nutrient Management in the Danube Basin and its Impact on the Black Sea, Deliverable 5.9a Revised DWQM: Analysis of available data. WL | Delft Hydraulics report R3460, Delft, The Netherlands, January 2004.
- DE WIT, M.J.M. (1999): Nutrient fluxes in the Rhine and Elbe basins. Netherlands Geographical Studies 259. Utrecht University.
- DOMOKOS, M. (2001): Drei Jahrzehnte hydrologische Zusammenarbeit der Staaten des Donaueinzugsgebietes (1971-2000). Hydrologie und Wasserwirtschaft **45** (4): 144-154.
- EEA (2002): http://reports.eea.eu.int/COR0-landcover/en.
- EU/AR102A91 (1997). Nutrient Balances for Danube Countries. Final Report, Institute for Water Quality and Waste Management, Vienna University of Technology and Department of Water and Wastewater Engineering, Budapest University of Technology in the framework of the Danube Applied Research Programme, 98 p.
- FAO (1997): Digital soil map of the world and derived soil properties, CD-ROM.
- GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL FACILITY BLACK SEA ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMME (1997): Black Sea Transboundary Diagnostic Analyses (1997). Programme Coordinating Unit, Istanbul, 141 p.

- GARNIER, J., BILLEN, G., HANNON, E., FONBONNE, S., VIDENINA, Y. and SOULIE, M. (2002): Modelling the transfer and retention of nutrients in the drainage network of the Danube River. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 54: 285-308.
- HASKONING (1994). Danube Integrated Environmental Study. Final Report, Haskoning, Royal Dutch Consulting Engineers and Architects, in the framework of the Environmental Programme for the Danube River Basin, 94 p.
- ICPDR (2000a): Water Quality in the Danube River Basin 1997, TNMN Yearbook, 91 p.
- ICPDR (2000b): Emission Inventory 2000 Municipal and Industrial Discharges in the Danube River Basin. Danube Pollution Reduction Programme, International Commission for the Protection of the Danube River, Vienna, 192 p.
- JAOSHVILI, S. (2002). The rivers of the Black Sea. (Eds.) KHOMERKI, I., GIGINEISHVILI, G. and KORDADZE, A., Technical Report 71, European Environment Agency, pp. 58. KLAVERS, H. and DE VRIES, A. (1993) : Frachtberekeniningsmethoden : en case study voor Maas en Rijn. Den Haag/Leystad : Workdocument GWWS-93.111X /RIZA-93.021X.
- KLEPPER, O., BEUSEN, A.H.W. and MEINARDI, C.R. (1995): Modelling the Flow of Nitrogen and Phosphorus in Europe: From Loads to Coastal Seas, Report no. 461501004, RIVM, Bilthoven, 54 p.
- KOVACS, A. (2004): Modelling non-point phosphorus pollution with various methods. Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Diffuse Pollution, Kyoto, October 2004, 257-264.
- KUNKEL, R and WENDLAND, F. (1997): WEKU-a GIS supported stochastic model of groundwater residence times in upper aquifers for the supraregional groundwater management. Envir. Geol. **30** (1/2): 1-9.
- LANCELOT, C., STANEVA, J., VAN EECKHOUT, D., BECKERS, J.-M. and STANEV, E. (2002): Modelling the Danube.influenced North-western Continental Shelf of the Blck Sea. II. Ecosystem response to Changes of nutrient Delivery by the Danube River after its Damming in 1972. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 54: 473-499.
- MACON (1999): Digital Maps. Europe NUTS. <u>http://www.macon.de/en/digitalmaps/</u> <u>maps_europe.htm</u>.
- MAKSIMOVIC, C. and MAKROPOULOS, C. K. (2002): Integrating river basin management and the coastal zone: the (blue) Danube and the (black) Sea. - Wat. Sci. Tech. **46** (8): 187-194.
- MAYER, D.G. and BUTLER, D.G. (1993): Statistical validation. Ecological Modelling **68**: 21-32.
- MEE, L. D. (1992): The Black sea in a crisis. A need for concerted international action. -Ambio 21: 278-285.
- MEE, L. D. (2001): Eutrophication in the Black Sea and a basin-wide approach to its control. In: VON BODUNGEN, B. AND TURNER, K. (Eds.): Science and Integrated Coastal Management. Proc. Dahlem Workshop, 12-17 December 1999, Berlin, 71-94.
- MEE, L. D. AND TOPPING, G. (1999) (Eds.): Black Sea Pollution Assessment. UN Publications, New York, 380 p.

- OECD (1997): OECD national Soil surface Nutrient balances: 1985 to 1996. Explanatory notes. OECD Secretary, Paris, 16 p.
- REGIONALE ZUSAMMENARBEIT DER DONAULÄNDER (1986): Die Donau und ihr Einzugsgebiet. Eine hydrologische Monographie. Part 3 Maps.
- SCHILLING, C., BLASCHKE, A.P., GUTKNECHT, D., DIMOVA, G., HEINECKE, U., KROIB, H., LAMPERT, C. and ZESSNER, M. (2003): Modelling Activities for Comprehensive Water and Nutrient Balances for Two Austrian Case Study Regions. Proceedings of the 7th International Specialised Conference on Diffuse Pollution and Basin Management, 17th-22nd August 2003, Dublin, Vol. 2, 10-29.
- SCHILLING, C., BEHRENDT, H., BLASCHKE, A.P., DANIELESCU, S., DIMOVA, G., GABRIEL, O., HEINECKE, U., KOVACS, A., LAMPERT, C., POSTOLACHE, C., SCHREIBER, H., STRAUSS, P. and ZESSNER, M. (2004): Lessons Learned from investigations on case study level for modelling of nutrient emissions in the Danube basin. Wat. Sci. Techn.: (in print).
- SCHREIBER, H., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, L., CVITANIC, I., DRUMEA, D., JABUCAR, D., JURAN, S., PATAKI, B., SNISHKO, S. and ZESSNER, M. (2003): Harmonised Inventory of Point an Diffuse Emissons of Nitrogen and Phosphorus for a Transboundary River Basin. Final Report, Institut of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Berlin, 159 p.
- SCHREIBER, H. and BEHRENDT, H. (2004): Harmonised land cover data for the estimation of nutrient inputs in European river systems - The example of Danube River. Uba-Texte 04/04, Federal Environmental Agency, Berlin, 86-95.
- SMITH, R. A., ALEXANDER, R.B. and SCHWARZ, G.E. (2003): Natural background concentrations of nutrients in streams and rivers of the conterminous United States. Enironmental Science and Technology 37 (14): 3039-3047.
- SOMLOYDY, L., BRUNNER, P. H. and KROIB, H. (1999). Nutrient Balances for Danube countries: a strategic analysis. Wat. Sci. Tech. 40 (10): 9-16.
- UNDP/GEF (1999): Transboundary Analysis report. Annexes. Annex 1.1-C Territories and river catchment areas of the DRB countries. Programme Coordination Unit UNDP/GEF Assistance, 384 p.
- USGS (1997): Eurasia Land Cover Characteristics Data Base, Retrieved, August 20, 2001 from <u>http://edcdaac.usgs.gov/glcc/eadoc1_2.html</u>.
- VAN GILS, J., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, A., LASZLO, F. and POPESCU, L.(2004): Changes of the nutrient loads of the Danube since the late eighties: an analysis based on long term changes along the whole Danube River and its main tributaries. Wat. Sci. Techn.: (in print).
- ZESSNER, M. and GILS, J. VAN (2002). Nutrient fluxes from the Danube basin to the Black Sea. Wat. Sci. Tech. 46 (8): 9-17.

IV. Long term changes

Horst Behrendt⁴, Jos van Gils⁵, Heide Schreiber¹ and Matthias Zessner⁶

IV.1 Introduction

The Danube river system drains an area of 802,900 km² which is approximately one third of the Black Sea basin. 82.2 Mio. people live within the Danube catchment representing about 51 % of the total population of the Black Sea basin (SCHREIBER et al., 2004; this volume). According JAOSHVILI (2002) the share of the Danube to total discharge into the Black Sea is about 54 %. These numbers illustrate the importance of the Danube river system for the Black Sea ecosystem. The status of this ecosystem changed over the last decades and eutrophication is one of the most sensitive indicators for these changes (LANCELOT et al., 2002; Mee, 2001; KROISS et al., 2004). Beside the fact that newest observations show a improvement of the situation (HORSTMANN et al., 2003) and the loads of nutrients from the Danube to the Black Sea were reduced in the last decade (VAN GILS et al., 2004), it is important to clarify what the sources of the nutrient fluxes within this river system are and what the causes are for these changes. Furthermore it is important to clarify the influence of the construction of dams and barrages, like the Iron Gate, on the nutrient transport of the Danube to the Black Sea. Former studies on this subject where focused mostly on the silica transport (Humborg et al., 1997) or partly speculatively (Lancelot et al., 2002), because the analysis did not include time periods before the establishment of dams.

Previous studies on nutrient entries in the Danube River (HASKONING, 1994; EU/AR102A/91, 1997; SOMLODY et al., 1999; ZESSNER & VAN GILS, 2002) have already tried to identify the most important sources, pathways, stocks and sinks of nutrients within the Danube catchment, but these studies were limited regarding the resolution in space (only country level) and the use of different data sources especially for the estimation of the diffuse nutrient inputs into the river system. Furthermore, they did not cover the whole basin of the Danube, because information on the countries of former Yugoslavia was only available for Slovenia and partial Croatia.

GARNIER et al. (2002) tried for the first time to model the nutrient loads for the whole Danube basin, but the database was incomplete and partly weak. Furthermore, the applied sub-model for the emissions into the river system was limited in space (only 12 subcatchments) and estimated the nutrient inputs from export coefficients and retention

⁴ Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Mueggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany

⁵ WL | Delft Hydraulics, Rotterdamseweg 185, 2629 HD Delft, The Netherlands

⁶ Institute for Water Quality and Waste Management, Vienna University of Technology, Karlsplatz 13, A-1040 Vienna, Austria

for two recent time periods (88-91 and 94-96) and thus only reflects the decrease of the nutrient loads in the Danube River.

All former analysis did not cover the 1950's an 1960's. But this time period is very interesting, because during this time the ecological status of the Black Sea was not characterised by the problems of the later decades (Horstmann et al., 2003).

Information on long term changes of the nutrient loads from rivers to the ocean is important so that ecological changes in the sea can be clarified. Because measurements of nutrient concentrations in the Danube are often only available for the last two decades (VAN GILS et al., 2004), loads of the past can only be quantified by modelling.

SCHREIBER et al. (2004, this volume) present a harmonized database and applied a unified model approach for the total area of the Danube Basin and 388 subcatchments. The nutrient emissions from point and diffuse sources into the whole river system of the Danube were estimated for the most recent time period of 1998 to 2000. With help of this established database and the model MONERIS (BEHRENDT et al., 2000) an attempt for the reconstruction of the nutrient emissions into the river system of the Danube for the time period from the 1950s to the mid of 1990s is presented here. The aim was to compare the model results with the published data of the former studies and to identify the causes for the changes of the nutrient loads of the Danube into the Black Sea in the last decades. Furthermore, it should be tested whether it is possible to reconstruct the nutrient loads and sources of nutrient emissions to the river system of the past. This is important for the calculation of scenarios with potential future load changes, because a model, which does not reflect the historical changes, can not be applied for the simulation of possible changes in the future.

IV.2 Database and Methods

- The applied model

The model MONERIS (<u>MO</u>delling <u>N</u>utrient <u>E</u>missions into <u>RI</u>ver <u>Systems</u>) developed to estimate nutrient emissions in German river systems (BEHRENDT et al., 2000) was recently applied to the Danube basin (SCHREIBER et al., 2004; this volume). Besides the inputs of municipal waste water treatment plants and of direct industrial discharges the model includes six diffuse or non-point pathways of emissions into the river system (atmospheric deposition, erosion, surface runoff, groundwater, tile drainage and paved urban areas; see SCHREIBER et al., 2004, this volume, Figure IV.1) and a sub-model to estimate the retention and losses within the surface waters of the river systems (BEHRENDT



Figure IV.1: Changes of the nitrogen surplus in the agriculture of the Danube countries from 1950 to 2000.

& OPITZ,1999). In the study presented here the methodology and model version of SCHREIBER et al. (2004, this volume) are used.

- Input data on long term changes

To model changes of the nutrient emissions and loads the database was used for the state in 2000 as described by SCHREIBER et al. (2004, this volume). Changes of the main human effects on the nutrient emissions are taken into account as time series for the Danube countries as shown in Table IV.1 to IV.6. Official statistics of the individual countries and the FAO (FAOSTAT, 2004) were used for the description of the development of population (Table IV.1) and agricultural area (Table IV.2) as well as fertilizer application, livestock numbers and harvested crops. The nutrient surplus on agricultural area (Figure IV.1) was estimated according to the OECD method (OECD, 1997).

Table IV.3 shows the database for the connection of people to sewer systems and waste water treatment plants (WWTP's), derived by different sources and additional assumptions for missing data. Because data on the connection of people to sewerage and WWTP's was not available for the 1950's, the trend from the 1960's and 1970's was extended to the 1950's.

Table IV.4 represents the database for the development of waste water treatment for the individual countries. In general, it is assumed for the 1955's that existing WWTP's pos-

sessed only mechanical treatment. The change of the nutrient elimination of WWTP's for the individual countries was estimated by the multiplication of the elimination rates given in Table IV.5 with the portion of the WWTP's with primary, secondary and tertiary treatment given in Table IV.4.

Table IV.6 represents the development of the specific P emissions of people and industrial indirect discharges into the sewer systems due to the changing use of phosphorus in detergents. The development of this indicator for Germany and Austria is based on the published data of KLOTTER & NEUSSEL (1959), BUCKSTEEG (1966), BERNHARDT et al. (1978), LÖFFLER (1980), FIRK & GEGENMANTEL (1986) and SCHMOLL (1999). For the other countries it is assumed that the change of the specific P emission follows from the 1950s to 1990 the trend found for the former GDR (BEHRENDT, 1994). For the last period data of the ICPDR on the use of phosphours in detergents within the different countries were taken into account (SCHREIBER et al., 2003). Between 1990 and 2000 a linear interpolation was done. As shown by BEHRENDT (1994) the specific N emission per capita is not changing in time and a constant value of 12 g·Inh.⁻¹·d⁻¹ was assumed for all

Table IV.1: Changes of the population in the Danube basin from 1955 to 2000 (data according to FAOSTAT data (2004), DE represents the data of Bavaria and Baden Württemberg according to Genesis (2004) and Statistisches Landesamt Baden-Württemberg (2004a), all country data weighted by the portion of population in the Danube basin according to Schreiber et al. (2003) for the period 1998-2000.

country	1955	1965	1975	1985	1990	1995	2000
	1000 Inh.						
DE	7148	7850	8833	9339	9538	9736	9717
AT	6604	6912	7390	7589	7703	7672	7702
CZ	2323	2497	2522	2568	2639	2734	2767
SK	4160	4471	4566	4649	4778	4949	5009
HU	10739	11098	10503	10693	10895	11076	10944
SI	1355	1478	1493	1543	1610	1683	1738
HR	2350	2563	2585	2672	2787	2913	3010
BH	2108	2299	2701	2791	2912	3043	3144
CS	7106	7751	7835	8097	8447	8828	9121
RO	16213	17647	17456	18576	19486	20363	20844
BG	3938	4309	3895	4030	4140	4207	4254
MD	609	715	743	781	819	854	892
UA	2061	2420	2457	2584	2708	2824	2951
total	66716	72009	72979	75913	78462	80883	82092

time periods. Additionally to the nutrient emissions of people the emissions of industrial discharges into the sewer systems have to taken into account. According to BEHRENDT (1994) and LINDTNER & ZESSNER (2003) these specific N and P emissions per capita were assumed to be 6 g·Inh.⁻¹·d⁻¹ N and 1 g·Inh.⁻¹·d⁻¹ P for 1980 to 1995 for all countries. For 1955 we assumed that these emissions were zero and increased linearly to the indicated value until 1980.

For the direct industrial nutrient input it is assumed that these discharges for the periods before 1995 were the same as estimated by EU/AR102A91 (1997) and that the variation is proportional to the change of the N discharges of WWTP's. Beside the point sources from industrial and municipal discharges the amount of nutrient discharges caused by the large pig production units in Romania (three units of 1 Mio pigs) have to be taken into account (EU/AR102A/91, 1997).

Table IV.2:Relative changes of the agricultural area in the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (data according to FAOSTAT data (2004), DE represents the data of Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg according to Statistisches Landesamt Baden-Württemberg (2004b) and Genesis (2004)

country	1955	1965	1975	1985	1990	1995	2000
	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]
DE	122.7	119.0	111.8	102.1	100.8	100.1	100.0
AT	115.9	114.0	108.5	100.5	100.2	101.0	100.0
CZ	108.2	106.1	104.1	101.7	100.4	100.0	100.0
SK	108.2	106.1	104.1	101.7	100.4	100.0	100.0
HU	121.0	118.8	115.6	111.7	110.6	105.6	100.0
SI	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	103.9	100.0
HR	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	91.0	100.0
BH	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	100.0	100.0
CS	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	100.4	100.0
RO	98.5	99.8	100.8	101.3	99.6	100.1	100.0
BG	91.6	93.5	96.1	99.6	99.4	100.1	100.0
MD	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	101.2	100.0
UA	105.5	104.8	104.1	103.2	102.1	101.2	100.0

Table IV.3: Changes of the connection of people to sewers, P and N elimination in waste water treatment plants of the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (References see below the table; numbers without index interpolated from the development of comparable countries)

	1955	1965	1975	1985	1985 1990		2000	
	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	
Popula	tion connec	ted to sewer	·S					
DE	56	66*	78*	86*	88*	91*	95*	
AT	40^{+}	47 ⁺	54^{+}	65^{+}	71 ⁺	79**	86**	
CZ	30	43	60**	70**	73**	73**	75**	
SK	20	29	37	46+++	48+++	48+++	54**	
HU	21	30	35**	48**	50**	44**	57**	
SI	27	39	51	63	66	66	74**	
HR	16	23	30	37	38	39	43++	
BH	16	23	30	37	39	39	$44^{\#}$	
CS	18	26	34	42	44	50	56++	
RO	17	24	32	39	41	41 ^x	46++	
BG	25	36	47	58	61	67**	68**	
MD	21	30	39	48	50	50	56##	
UA	20	28	36	45	47	47	53 ^{##}	
Popula	tion connec	ted to WWT	ГР					
DE	26	37*	68*	82*	86*	89*	94*	
AT	30^{+}	39 ⁺	48^{+}	61 ⁺	70^{+}	77**	86**	
CZ	12	22	39**	48**	50**	56**	65**	
SK	2	5	9	17+++	21+++	32++++	49**	
HU	3	6	13**	25**	20**	21**	35**	
SI	4	8	16	26	29	37	51**	
HR	3	6	11	18	20	25	35++	
BH	2	3	6	10	11	14	19 [#]	
CS	3	6	12	20	22	32	44++	
RO	2	5	9	14	16	20 ^x	28++	
BG	3	6	12	19	21	35**	38**	
MD	2	4	8	13	14	18	25##	
UA	1	2	4	6	7	8	12##	

* Statistisches Landesamt Baden-Württemberg (2004a) and Bayerisches Landesamt für Statistik und Datenverarbeitung (2003); ⁺Fleckseder H. (1994); ** EUROSTAT (2004); ⁺⁺ UN/ECE (2004); [#]LSMS Bosnia (2004); ^{##} EECCA (2004); ⁺⁺⁺ OECD (2002); ^x EU/AR102A91 (1997)

Table IV.4: Changes of the connection of people to different waste water treatment plants for the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (References see below and Table 3; numbers without index interpolated from the development of comparable countries - percentages in relation to the total population connected to WWTP's)

	1955	1965	1975	1985	1990	1995	2000
	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]
Popula	tion connec	ted to WW	TP with m	echanical (p	orimary) tr	eatment	
DE	100	79*	36*	6*	3*	2*	1*
AT	100	85^{+}	52 ⁺	11 ⁺	7^{+}	1^{+}	1+
CZ	100	90	69	48	25	1	1^{xx}
SK	100	88	63	39	27	16	5 ^{xx}
HU	100	100	62	32**	30**	14**	11**
SI	100	100	73	45	31	18	4
HR	100	100	93	86	83	81	60
BH	100	100	92	84	80	88	95
CS	100	100	80	61	51	41	31
RO	100	100	73	46	32	19	16
BG	100	100	68	35	19	3**	3**
MD	100	100	67	33	17	0	0
UA	100	100	71	41	27	12	12
Popula	tion connect	ted to WWT	P with biol	ogical (seco	ndary) trea	tment	
DE	0	21*	64*	77*	29*	17*	8*
AT	0	15^{+}	48^{+}	82^{+}	83 ⁺	35 ⁺	21^{+}
CZ	0	10	31	52	62	73	50 ^{xx}
SK	0	12	37	61	73	86	46 ^{xx}
HU	0	17**	38**	68**	65**	81**	77**
SI	0	0	27	55	69	82	96 ^{xx}
HR	0	0	7	14	17	19	40^{xx}
BH	0	0	8	16	20	13	5 ^{xx}
CS	0	0	20	39	49	59	69 ^{xx}
RO	0	0	27	54	68	81 ^x	84 ^{xx}
BG	0	0	32	65	81	97**	97**
MD	0	0	33	67	83	100 ^x	100
UA	0	0	29	59	73	88 ^x	88
Popula	<u>tion connec</u>	ted to WW	TP with ad	ditional nu	trient elimi	ination (ter	tiary)
DE	0	0	0	17	68	81	91
AT	0	0	0	8	10	64	78
CZ	0	0	0	0	13	26	49
SK	0	0	0	0	0	2	49
HU	0	0	0	0	5	5	12
SI	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
HR	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
BH	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
CS	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
RO	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
BG	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
MD	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
UA	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

^{xx} ICPDR (2000b)

Table IV.5:	Elimination rates of the different treatments in WWTP's estimated from point
	source inventories of the Danube countries according to Schreiber et al. (2003)

Kind of treatment	Phosphorus	Nitrogen
	%	%
Mechanical / primary	15	10
Biological / secondary	35	30
Biological with additional nutrient elimination / tertiary	87	80

from industrial and municipal discharges the amount of nutrient discharges caused by the large pig production units in Romania (three units of 1 Mio pigs) have to be taken into account (EU/AR102A/91, 1997).

Because the manure of such large stable units cannot be stored and transported over large distances, it was assumed that all of the excreta of the approximately 3,000,000 pigs were directly discharged to the water bodies. From the development of the number of pigs in Romania (FAOSTAT, 2004) one can conclude that these industrial pig farms existed from about 1980 to 1991. Therefore, these agricultural point sources were only taken into account for the three time periods 1980, 1985 and 1990.



Figure IV.2: The Danube basin and the location of the used monitoring stations within the catchment.

Unfortunately, information on the tile drained area and the soil losses from arable land were not available with exception of the changes of agricultural (Table IV.2) and arable land. Therefore it is assumed that the soil loss rate per arable land was constant over the whole investigation period. For tile drained areas it was taken into account that the drainage of agricultural land was mainly established in all countries in the 1960s to 1980s and that the actual portions of tile drained agricultural areas (SCHREIBER et al., 2003) were reached already in the mid of 1980s.

For the 1950s we assumed that the portion of tile drained agricultural land was only 20% of the present level in all Danube countries. This portion is increasing to 100% for Germany and Austria within a time period of 20 years and for the other countries it is assumed that the present portion of tile drained areas is reached in the mid 1980s.

country	1955	1965	1975	1985	1990	1995**	2000*
	g/(Inh·d)						
DE^+	2.5	3.7	5.5	4.3	3.6	2.9	3.0
AT^+	2.5	3.7	5.5	4.3	3.6	2.9	3.0
CZ^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.5	3.2
SK^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.4	2.9
HU^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.5	3.1
SI^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.4	2.9
HR^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.9	3.6
BH^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.8	3.5
CS^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.5	2.8
RO^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.3	2.4
BG^{++}	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.3	2.5
MD ⁺⁺	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.2	2.3
UA ⁺⁺	2.1	2.9	3.9	5.1	5.6	4.2	2.3

Table IV.6: Changes of the specific P emissions of the people and industrial indirect dis charges in the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000

⁺ development for westgerman federal states from 1955 to 1990 according to Behrendt et al. (1996)

⁺ development for eastgerman federal states from 1955 to 1990 according to Behrendt et al. (1996)

* data according to Schreiber et al. (2003)

** average for the period 1990 and 2000

- River Nutrient Loads

Calculated nutrient loads were compared with observed data reported by VAN GILS et al. (2004) summarizing the available long term data for the nutrient loads and discharges of seven stations along the Danube, in the lower Drava and the Tisza. For location and characterisation of these stations see Figure IV.2 and Table IV.7. Because long term data on the Danube below the Hungarian border are limited, the available data on the Danube at Hercegszanto, the Drava and the Tisza were summarized to a virtual station



Figure IV.3: Temporal change of the load of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and total phosphorus (TP) for the used monitoring stations along the Danube (A – load of dissolved inorganic nitrogen; B – load of total phosphorus).

Station	River km	Catchment (km ²)	Altitude (m)
Jochenstein	2204	77,350	290
Medve	1806	132,720	108
Hercegszanto	1435	209,390	79
Dravaszabolcs	78 (Drava)	37,250	92
Tiszasziget	163 (Tisa)	140,000	74
upstream Sava (virtual station)		386,640	
Bazias	1071	565,770	70
Reni	132	788,110	4

Table IV.7:
 Characteristics of the water quality monitoring station used in this paper.

(named upstream Sava). Its catchment area is only a little bit smaller than that of the Danube upstream of the confluence of Danube and Sava. Figure IV.3 shows the nutrient loads for the Danube stations over the total period of observations. Additional to the load data given by national authorities and the international monitoring programs, the figure includes the published data of ALMAZOV (1961) and ROJDESTVENSKY (1968), which represent an average of the nutrient load for 1949 to 1959 and for 1960 and 1965 for the Danube at the station Reni or upstream of the Danube Delta. Because these authors published only data on the load of the dissolved nutrient components (Dissolved inorganic nitrogen = $DIN = NH_4-N + NO_2-N + NO_3-N$; soluble reactive phosphorus = SRP), the data for soluble reactive phosphorus were transformed to total phosphorus (TP) using 1.64 as a mean ratio of TP to SRP for all periods and stations of the Danube. The observed discharges at the stations for the different time periods were used as input data to adjust the model to the flow conditions for the individual time periods. Additionally, all calculations were repeated with the long term discharges (average discharges for the stations over all time periods) as well as the observed lowest and highest discharges of all time periods to distinguish between the effects of the hydrology and of human activities within the catchments.

The barrage of Iron Gate went into operation in 1972 and has been retaining about 32% of the TP-load and 6% of the DIN load entering this barrage (SCHREIBER et al., 2003; VAN GILS et al., 2004). These additional nutrient retentions were taken into account for the periods after 1975. The only effected station of those given in Table IV.7 is Reni (Figure IV.2).

IV.3 Results and Discussion

- Changes of nutrient emissions from point and diffuse sources

Figure IV.3 gives a summarised overview on the temporal variation of the nutrient emissions into the Danube river system from individual pathways. For both nutrients the point source emissions increased from 1955 to 1990 by a factor of 4.9 (N) and 5.9 (P), respectively, and then decreased continuously. But the figure does not show that the temporal changes of the point source discharges differed in the upstream part of the basin (stations Jochenstein and Medve, representing mostly the German and Austrian part of the Danube basin) from those located downstream, especially for phosphorus. The faster development of the society in Germany and Austria leads already in the period 1975 to the highest specific P emissions per capita (see Table IV.5) and to a higher share of population connected to sewers and municipal waste water treatment plants in this part of the Danube. The reduction of P in detergents resulted in an initial decrease of the point P discharges during the 1980s followed by a further decline in the 1990s due to improved P elimination in the WWTP's. In the downstream part of the Danube the highest P point source discharges were estimated for the end of 1980's.

The end of the industrial pig farming in Romania, decreasing P content in detergents and to a minor part the improved P elimination efficiency in WWTP's of the lower Danube countries lead to reduced P emissions in the 1990s. The present P point source discharges is about 59% lower as 1990 but still 210 % higher than in 1955.

Changes of the N point sources discharges in the Danube river basin are mainly effected by the construction of sewer systems and the increasing removal efficiency in the recent years. The present N point source discharges decreased by about 32% in the 1990s but still exceed the level of the 1950s by about 195%. For the German and Austrian part of the Danube the present point discharges for P and N are only 54% (P) and 125% (N) compared to the 1950s.

- Changes of diffuse source emissions

According to Figure IV.4 the nitrogen emissions from diffuse sources has increased from the 1950s to the mid of 1980s by a factor of 1.6. In the 1990s this pollution decreased by about 13% mainly as the result of a decreasing N-surplus on agricultural areas (Figure IV.1). But the reduction of N-surplus is larger than the reduction of the diffuse nitrogen emissions, especially for the middle and lower part of the Danube. This is due to the longer residence time in the groundwater and the different retention rates for nitrogen in the unsaturated zone and in the groundwater. If the N-surplus will remain on the present level, a further reduction of the diffuse nitrogen emissions can be assumed for these areas in the next years.

Compared to nitrogen the phosphorus emissions from diffuse sources were relatively constant, if the assumption of the model is correct that the soil losses are nearly constant for the investigated time period.

If the uncertainties in the database are taken into account the present level of P emissions into the Danube river system from diffuse sources is probably 1.6 times that of 1950s.

- Changes of total nutrient emissions into the Danube river system

The maximum of total emissions occurred in 1985 for nitrogen with 920 kt/y and in 1990 for phosphorus with 110 kt/y (see Figure IV.4). According to Figure IV.4 total



Figure IV.4: Change of the nutrient emissions into the Danube river system for the time period 1955 to 2000 (A – nitrogen, B – phosphorus).

emissions from 1955 to the maximum increased by a factor of 2.6 (P) and 2.4 (N). Compared to the maximum the reduction of the total emissions in the 1990s is 18 % for nitrogen and 39% for phosphorus. The present level of the total nutrient emissions is about 65% (P) and 92% (N) higher than in the 1950s.

The changes of the total nutrient emissions into the Danube river system are the result of large changes of the share of the individual pathways in the total emissions (Figure IV.4).

Within the 1950s the nitrogen emissions from groundwater (43%) were the dominant pathways followed by urban areas (15%) and point sources (15%). For 1990 the point discharges were increased to 27% and the groundwater emissions were reduced to 36%. The emissions from tile drained areas were the third largest pathway (15%). In contrast, the present situation is characterized once more by a share of groundwater emissions of more than 44% followed by point discharges (23%). Tile drained areas and overland flow contribute only about 10% to the total nitrogen emissions. The contribution of N emissions from atmospheric deposition and erosion are of minor importance for all time periods.

For phosphorus the dominant pathway was in the 1950s the erosion (48%) followed by the point discharges (25%) and the emissions from urban areas (13%). At the late 1980s the total P emissions were dominated to 69% from point discharges and the portion of erosion and urban areas was reduced to 21% and 5%, respectively. In the last investigated time period the point sources remained the major pathway (47%) but due to the large reduction of point discharges the portion of erosion has increased to 35%.

Also for phosphorus the contribution of the other pathways (groundwater, tile drainage, atmospheric deposition) is of minor importance for the whole investigated time period.

- Changes of loads within the Danube river system

Before the results of the model calculations for all time periods are presented and discussed, the uncertainty of these results have do be estimated. Figure IV.5 presents the comparison between the observed and calculated loads of DIN and TP for all stations and all time periods. For nitrogen the deviation between observed and calculated loads



Figure IV.5: Comparison of observed and calculated nutrient loads for the analysed stations in the Danube for the period 1995 to 2000.

as 0.97 for the total DIN loads over all stations (MAYER & BUTLER, 1993). This value is lower for the area related specific DIN loads (0.9). Comparing the EF of the calculated loads for the temporal changes of the eight main stations (Figure IV.2) with the EF given by SCHREIBER et al. (2004, this volume) for 93 station and the present situation (total DIN load: 0.95; specific DIN load: 0.75), the difference are low for the total DIN load as well as for the area related specific DIN load. That means that the quality of the model results for the 8 larger stations over the whole time period of the last 50 years is similar to the findings for the last period for the set of 93 regionally distributed stations.

The deviation of observed from calculated loads is much higher for total phosphorus (see Figure IV.5). The mean deviation was about 22% for all periods and stations. The EF for the TP load is 0.75 (total load) and 0.60 (area related specific load). The deviations increased (EF decreased) from the upstream to the downstream stations. Whereas the mean deviation of TP loads is only about 19% for all stations upstream of Hungarian border the average of the deviation of the two downstream stations Bazias and Reni is about 44%. According to SCHREIBER et al. (2004, this volume) the EF of the model results for the present state is 0.93 for the total TP loads and 0.41 for the area related specific TP loads (64 stations), which is similar to or lower than our results for the temporal variation.

If the estimated deviations between observed and calculated nutrient loads are taken as a base for the uncertainty of the load calculations the ranges can be defined for the present state as 20% for nitrogen and 30% for phosphorus. For the period 1955 this uncertainty is assumed to 50% for both nutrients. The ranges of uncertainty for the other investigated time periods can be estimated by linear extrapolation of these boundary levels.

Figure IV.6 and IV.7 shows for three of the investigated 8 stations the observed and the calculated DIN and TP loads as well as the possible ranges of uncertainty.

According to Figure IV.6 the increase of the DIN load from 1955 to the maximum in the 1980s was between a factor of 2.2 (Reni) and 2.4 (Jochenstein). The highest DIN load was calculated as 456 kt/y N at Reni for the period of 1980. Surprising is the increase of calculated (1990: 375 kt/y; 2000: 396 kt/y) and observed (1990: 353 kt/y; 2000: 456 kt/y) DIN loads in the 1990s. This is mainly due to the different flow conditions (see Figure IV.6). The periods 1990 and 2000 were the lowest and highest flows in the Danube at Reni of all investigated time periods.

As shown in Figure IV.6 the observed and calculated DIN loads are within the range of uncertainty for all three stations except for Jochenstein in 1970 and Reni in 1955. Because it is not possible to reconstruct the database of the DIN loads given by ALMAZOV (1961) it is difficult to evaluate the large difference between calculated and observed

DIN load for 1955, especially against the background of the good agreement with the loads for the later time periods (1960 and 1965) given by Rojdestvensk Y (1968). One reason can be that the measurements summarized by ALMAZOV

(1961) represent mostly the conditions durspring, ing summer and autumn of the year, where the DIN concentrations are lower due to higher denitrification in the surface waters. But one the other hand



Figure IV.6: Comparison of the temporal change of the calculated and observed DIN load for the stations Jochenstein and Reni as well as the virtual station upstream Sava.

some of the basic assumption for the input data of the model can be wrong for this starting period, because some of the data were interpolated backward from the trend of existing data for the 1960s.

The overestimation of the calculated DIN load for 1970 and partly 1975 at the station Jochenstein can be related to the oversimplified description of the processes in the soils within the model. It is assumed that changes in nitrogen storage in the soil are negligible (BEHRENDT et al., 1999), due to missing data on the temporal changes of the N content

of different soils. But the nitrogen content of the soil can change because of immobilisation and mineralization, especially for longer time period (ADDISCOTT, 1988). Consequently, the large difference of calculated and observed DIN load at Jochenstein in the 1970s could be an indication that the process of immobilisation has to be taken into account for long term simulations for periods with increasing N surplus. Further reasons for these deviations can be errors in the input data, especially for the tile drained agricultural areas, point sources and atmospheric deposition, as well as higher uncertainty of the observed loads during the initial phase of monitoring.

Besides the DIN loads presented in Figure IV.3 for the eight Danube stations WEILGUNI & HUMPESCH (1999) published also data for the concentrations of nitrate and ammonia

for the Danube at Vienna Nußdorf for the time period from 1956 to 1996. The subdivision of the model MONERIS the Danube for allows the estimation of the nutrient loads for this station. too. Average annual nutrient concentration can be calculated by the model after division of the estimated loads by flow. Therefore we can compare the calculated DIN concentrations for the Vienna station Nußdorf also with values given by WEILGUNI & HUMPESCH (1999). The average DIN





66

concentrations for the time periods 1975 to 1990 and 1995 were estimated as 2.4 and 2.2 mg/l N. This values are very close to the nitrate nitrogen concentrations published by WEILGUNI & HUMPESCH (1999) for the time period 1977-1990 (2.38 mg/l N) and for the year 1995 (2.34 mg/l N). According to these authors, nitrate nitrogen represents more than 90% of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN). Furthermore, the trend of the nitrate nitrogen concentration given by these authors seems to be very similar with the trend of the DIN concentration calculated with the model.

As shown in Figure IV.7, a very good agreement of the temporal trend of the observed and the calculated loads was found for the TP load at Jochenstein. All calculated loads are close to the observed loads. With respect to temporal variability, the highest TP load was about 14.2 kt/y P in the period 1975 for this station. Compared to 1955 (4.7 kt/y P) the TP load in 1975 was about three times higher. The calculated TP load for 2000 was 4.8 kt/y P, which is the same level as in 1955.

The observed and calculated TP loads are also in the range of uncertainty for the sum of the load of Danube, Drava and Tisza at the Hungarian border (virtual station upstream Sava). But the deviations are higher and with exception of the period 1995, the observed load is higher than the calculated load. The highest TP load was estimated as 26.7 kt/y P for the period 1980. The increase from 1955 to 1975 was by a factor of 2.4. In the present time the TP load is about 15.9 kt/y and about 44% lower than in 1980 but 35% above the level of 1955.

For the station Reni the observed and calculated TP loads are not in the range of uncertainty for the period 1990 and much lower than the observed load. The underestimation of the calculated TP load can be explained by missing additional point or diffuse P sources in the lower part of the Danube or errors in the observed TP load.



Figure IV.8: Calculated nutrient loads for the Danube at the station Reni for the period 1955 to 2000 for different flow conditions as well as with and without Iron Gate barrage

The calculated TP load shows a maximum for 1980 (33 kt/y P). Between 1970 and 1980 a small reduction is visible that is due to the establishment of the Iron Gate barrage; this period is accompanied by a increase of the retention of phosphorus in the Danube that is larger than the increase of the P emissions (Figure IV.4). Without Iron Gate the TP load at Reni would have reached a maximum of 42 kt/y P in 1990 (see Figure IV.8). The P retention within Iron Gate is the reason that the TP load from 1955 to the maximum in 1980 increased only by a factor of 1.8 and that the present TP load at Reni is only 27% above the TP load in 1955.

While the TP load reduction in the upper part of the Danube is clearly due to the changes of the emissions into the river system, the reduction in the lower part is mostly influenced by the change within the river system. The model results support the results

Emissions from diffuse sources are strongly dependent on flow conditions (NOVOTNY & CHESTERS, 1981). Therefore the variation of the diffuse nutrient emissions is also influenced by the variation of flow conditions in the different time periods.

To separate the effect of changing flow and human influences on the diffuse emissions all calculations were repeated for all time periods but using average long-term flow conditions in the Danube. The long-term flow was estimated as the average of the observed flow data for the individual stations for all investigated time periods. Additionally, the DIN and TP loads were calculated for the highest and lowest flows observed for each area upstream or between the eight stations within all time periods, to show the possible variance of the loads due to extreme flow conditions. Figure IV.8 presents the results of these scenario calculations for the station at Reni. This figure includes also the estimated load with and without the Iron Gate to illustrate its effect on the nutrient loads.

At long-term flow conditions the variations of both nutrients are a little larger than for the observed flows. The loads increase from the 1950s to the 1980s by a factor of about 2.1 for nitrogen and 2.2 for phosphorus.

In contrast to the observed data and the calculated DIN load for observed flow in the 1990s (increase of DIN load), this load is decreasing (-25%) for long term flow conditions. This illustrates that for nitrogen small and moderate reductions of human influences were overridden by increased flow during the 1990s. The range of the possible variation of the nitrogen load of the Danube at Reni at the highest and lowest flow conditions is about 40% (see Figure IV.8). Therefore human influenced trends of nitrogen loads can be only identified for short time periods or individual years, if their changes are also in this order of magnitude. For smaller changes the identification of such trends needs longer time series or the support of models or other methods that take the variation of flows into account (see e.g. STALNACKE & GRIMVALL, 2001).

The TP load for long-term flow conditions from 1955 to the 1990 was by a factor of 1.7 higher than for observed flows. For long-term flow conditions the present TP load is only 10% higher than estimated for 1955. The influence of extreme flow conditions on the TP load at Reni is similar as for nitrogen. Because the reduction of human indicators was larger for phosphorus (38%) than for nitrogen (14%), the calculated TP loads decrease in the 1990s. Furthermore, it was found that the maximum of the TP load is changing from 1985 to 1990 (similar to the emissions).

According to the model calculations the establishment of the Iron Gate barrage is of minor importance to the nitrogen load in the Danube but important for the TP load (see Figure IV.8). If the assumed TP retention of 32% within the Iron Gate barrage is realistic (VAN GILS et al., 2004), the influence of this measure is larger than the influence of different flow conditions.

- Comparison with former studies

A comparison of the results of this study with other analyses for the whole Danube and for the total time period of 50 years is not possible. All published studies cover only the time period from the end of 1980s to the mid of the 1990s. Estimations of the nutrient emissions into the Danube were published within the PHARE-study (EU/AR102A91, 1997; see also SOMLOYDY et al., 1999) and the HASKONING study (HASKONING, 1994). ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) revised the emission situation estimated by EU/AR102A91 (1997) for 1992 and enlarged the time period for the nutrient emissions in the Danube for the situation around 1988 and 1996/1997. GARNIER et al. (2002) applied the RIVERSTRAHLER model for the Danube for the period 1988 to 1991 and 1994 to 1996. The methods used for the estimation of the nutrient emissions are different. All earlier studies were done only on a country level or large subcatchments.

The results of all of these studies are shown in Table IV.8. Beside the results of the for-

Table IV.8:Comparison of the nutrient emissions and loads within the Danube according to
the results of different studies for time periods at the begin and in the mid of the
1990s (Total – toal emissions; diffuse – emissions from diffuse sources; point –
point source discharges; DIN – calculated load of dissolved inorganic nitrogen;
TN load – calculated load of total nitrogen; TP load – calculated load of total
phosphorus).

			Nitrogen Phosphorus							
time period	total	diffus	point	DIN load	TN load	total	diffus	point	TP load	Source
	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	kt/y	
1992	677	455	222			93	53	40		HASKONING (1994)
1988-1992	1130	830	299		447	150	100	50	46	ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002)
1988-1991	1257	591	666	858	936	178	29	149	51	GARNIER et al. (2002)
1988-1992	843	587	257	375	473	110	34	77	26	this study
1996/1997	898	584	314			108	46	62		ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002)
1994-1996	972	456	516	644	710	116	29	87	35	GARNIER et al. (2002)
1993-1997	769	569	200	381	461	83	36	47	25	this study

mer studies the table includes also the findings of our analysis for the similar time periods.

The HASKONING study did not include about 20% of the Danube basin (Bosnia-Herzegovina and Serbia and Montenegro), therefore the estimated nutrient emissions are the lowest compared with the other results.

Compared with the results of ZESSNER & VAN GILS and GARNIER et al. (2002) the estimated total nutrient emissions of our study are the lowest for both time periods. Garnier et al. (2002) calculated the highest emissions. The difference between the model results is lower for the period of the mid of the 1990s.

In spite of these large differences the results of this study agree very well with the results of GARNIER et al.(2002) for the diffuse emissions of nitrogen and phosphorus. On the other hand MONERIS results fit better with the values given by ZESSNER & VAN GILS for the point source discharges. In general, the difference is larger for the point source discharges than for the diffuse nutrient emissions.

The reduction of the nitrogen load from the period 1990 to the period 1995 is the lowest for the MONERIS results (9%) followed by the results of ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) (20%) and GARNIER et al. (2002) (23%). Similar to our results, ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) found that the reduction of point nitrogen discharges was larger than for the diffuse sources. GARNIER et al.(2002) estimated the same reduction for both sources of nitrogen (23%). For phosphorus the largest reduction of the total emissions was estimated by GARNIER et al. (2002) (35%) followed by similar values given by ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) (28%) and this study (25%).

ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) estimated the nutrient loads from the emissions using the same equations as given by BEHRENDT & OPITZ (1999) and used in MONERIS, therefore the retention expressed as percentage of the total emissions is very similar. The nutrient retention within the surface waters of the Danube according to the RIVERSTRAHLER model varies between 32 and 34 % for DIN and 26 and 27% for TN but this retention takes into account only the retention in the main stream sections. The retention calculated in this study is about 20% (DIN) and 16% (TN) higher. In contrast to nitrogen the amount of the phosphorus retention is for both models very similar (Riverstrahler: 70-71%; MONERIS: 70-76%).

The deviation of observed and calculated loads is for the RIVERSTRAHLER model for both time periods between 16 and 18%. In both cases, the calculated loads are larger than the observed DIN loads. This can be caused by overestimation of the emissions or underestimation of the retention within the surface waters. For MONERIS the deviations are 2-6%.

The date source used for the observed DIN load differ, too. GARNIER et al. (2002) used the observed loads given by COCIASU et al., 1996 and pers. comm.) for the Station at Sulina (located in one of the main branches of Danube in the Delta). On the other hand, ZESSNER & VAN GILS (2002) and this study used the data for the station at Reni (about 100 km upstream) (see VAN GILS et al., 2004).

Both loads are very different, especially for the first time period (Sulina: 723 kt/y; Reni: 352 kt/y DIN). Because the RIVERSTRAHLER model was calibrated for this time period and for the higher load for Sulina, the calculated nitrogen emissions are much higher as for MONERIS.

IV.4 Conclusions

The model results of changing nutrient emissions of different point and diffuse sources as well as loads in the Danube in the last 50 years can explain the observed situation, which is characterised by observed loads of 8 different monitoring stations located along the Danube River. Because the deviation between observed and calculated nutrient loads is only 12% for DIN and 25% for TP for all time periods and stations, it can be assumed that the model results reflects the changes of the pollution situation within a range of uncertainty.

The identified changes for the nutrient loads of the Danube into the Black Sea are relatively low over time. But the changes of the ecological state of the Western Black Sea in the last 40 years are described as large (Mee, 2001; Lancelot et al., 2002; Horstmann et al., 2003). This indicates a high sensitivity of the ecological state of the Western Black Sea to changes of the nutrient loads of the Danube.

In general, it is assumed that the estimation of diffuse sources and retention in surface waters is much more complicated and uncertain than the calculation of point source discharges. But the comparison of results from different models shows that the variability of diffuse nutrient emissions and estimated P retentions is much lower than that of point source discharges. Therefore, the establishment of a better database for the point source discharges and their changes is a main task for the improvement of the models for such large river basin as the Danube.

The difference among the observed loads in the most downstream part of the Danube are very large in the 1990s; a harmonisation of the measurements to get a better and unified database for the calibration of the models is urgently needed.

IV.5 Acknowledgements

The results presented stem from the project "Nutrient management in the Danube Basin and its impact on the Black Sea" supported under contract ENVK1-CT-2000-00051 within the 5th EU Framework Programme. Details of this project can be found on the project homepage <u>http://www.danubs.tuwien.ac.at</u>, ELOISE No 455/38.

IV.6 References

- ADDISCOTT, T., M. (1988): Long-term leakage of nitrate from bare unmanured soil. Soil Use and Management, 4, 91-95.
- ALMAZOV, N.M. (1961): Stok rasverennykh solej i biogennykh veshchestv kotorye vynoseatsya rekami SSSR v Chernom More. *Naukovi Zapiski Odess.Biol.St.*, 3: 99-107.
- BAYERISCHES LANDESAMT FÜR STATISTIK UND DATENVERARBEITUNG (2003): Öffentliche Wasserversorgung und Abwasserbeseitigung in Bayern 2001. Statistische Berichte des Bayerischen Landesamts für Statistik und Datenverarbeitung, Q I 1 - 3j/01, 46 p.
- BEHRENDT, H. (1994): Phosphor- und Stickstoffeinträge über punktförmige Quellen. In: Werner, W. & Wodsak, H.-P. (Hrsg.): Stickstoff- und Phosphoreintrag in Fließgewässer Deutschlands unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Eintragsgeschehens im Lockergesteinsbereich der ehemaligen DDR. Agrarspectrum 22, Frankfurt/M, 137-164.
- BEHRENDT, H. & OPITZ, D. (1999): Retention of nutrients in river systems: Dependence on specific runoff and hydraulic load. Hydrobiologia **410**, pp 111-122.
- BEHRENDT, H., BACH, M., KUNKEL, R., OPITZ, D., PAGENKOPF, W.-G., SCHOLZ, G. & WENDLAND, F. (2003): Nutrient emissions into river basins of Germany on the basis of an harmonized preedure. UBA-Texte 82/03, 191p.
- BEHRENDT, H., HUBER, P., KORNMILCH, M, OPITZ, D., SCHMOLL, O., SCHOLZ, G. & UEBE, R. (2000): Nutrient Emissions into river basins of Germany. UBA-Texte 23/00, 266 p..
- BERNHARDT, H. (Hrsg.) (1978): Phosphor Wege und Verbleib in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Weinheim, New York, 285 p.
- BUCKSTEEG, L.W. (1966): Welche praktische Bedeutung haben die Verfahren zur Abwendung der Gewässereutrophierung? Haus der Technik – Vortragsveröffentlichungen Heft 93, "Gewässerschutz im Land Nordrhein-Westfalen", Vulkan-Verlag Dr. W. Classen, Essen, 14-27.
- COCIASU, A., DOROGAN, L., HUMBORG, C. & POPA, L. (1996): Long term ecological changes in Romanian coastal waters of the Black Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 32, 32-38.
- DOMOKOS, M. (2001): Drei Jahrzehnte hydrologische Zusammenarbeit der Staaten des Donaueinzugsgebietes (1971-2000). Hydrologie und Wasserwirtschaft, 45, 4, 144-154.
- EECCA (2003): Urban water reform in Eastern Europe, Caucasus and Central Asia Progress since the Almaty Ministerial Conference. OECD, Paris, 64 p.
- EU/AR102A91 (1997): Nutrient Balances for Danube Countries. Final Report, Institute for Water Quality and Waste Management, Vienna University of Technology and Department of Water and Wastewater Engineering, Budapest University of Technology in the framework of the Danube Applied Research Programme.
- EUROSTAT (2004): National population connected to waste water treatment plants 1970-2001. Table IWQ4, <u>http://europa.eu.int/comm/eurostat/newcronos/reference/display.do</u> <u>?screen=welcomeref&open=/&product=EU_environment_energy&depth=2&lang</u> <u>uage=en</u>
- FAOSTAT (2004): FAOSTAT2004, Population and Agriculture Data <u>http://apps.fao.org/cgi-bin/nph-db.pl?subset=agriculture</u>
- FIRK, W. & GEGENMANTEL, H.-F. (1986): Nährstoffquellen Einführung, Übersicht, Größenordnungen. In: Wasser-Abwasser-Abfall 1/1986, Schriftenreihe des Fachgebietes Siedlungswasserwirtschaft, Universität Kassel, 8-25.
- FLECKSEDER H. (1994): Warum benötigt Österreich die Generelle Entwässerungsplanung, Wiener Mitteilungen Band 121, 1-28
- GARNIER, J., BILLEN, G., HANNON, E., FONBONNE, S., VIDENINA, Y. & SOULIE, M. (2002): Modelling the transfer and retention of nutrients in the drainage network of the Danube River. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 54, 285-308.
- GENESIS (2004): Data on population development of german federal states. <u>https://www-genesis.destatis.de/genesis/online/Online</u>
- HASKONING (1994). *Danube Integrated Environmental Study*. Final Report, Haskoning, Royal Dutch Consulting Engineers and Architects, in the framework of the Environmental Programme for the Danube River Basin, 94 S.
- HUMBORG C., ITTEKKOT V., COCIASU A., VON BODUNGEN B. (1997): Effect of Danube River dam on Black Sea biogeochemistry and ecosystem structure. *Nature*, 386, 385-388.
- HORSTMANN U. DAVIDOV A., COCIASU A & VELIKOVA V. (2003) Der Einfluss verringerter Nährstofffrachten der Donau auf das Schwarze Meer, Österreichische Wasser und Abfallwirtschaft, 55. Jahrgang, Heft 11-12, 205-211.
- ICPDR (2000a): Water Quality in the Danube River Basin 1997, TNMN Yearbook, 91 p. <u>http://www.icpdr.org/pls/danubis/danubis_db.dyn_navigator.show</u>.
- ICPDR (2000b): Emission Inventory 2000 Municipal and Industrial Discharges in the Danube River Basin. Danube Pollution Reduction Programme, International Commission for the Protection of the Danube River, Vienna, 192 p.
- JAOSHVILI, S. (2002). *The rivers of the Black Sea*. (Eds.) Khomerki, I., Gigineishvili, G., Kordadze, A., Technical Report **71**, European Environment Agency, 58 p.
- KLOTTER, H.-E. & NEUSSEL, R. (1959): Orthophosphat und Polyphosphate im Abwasser und Oberflächenwasser. Vom Wasser, 26, 110-145.
- KROISS H., ZESSNER M., LAMPERT C. (2004): Nutrient Management in the Danube Basin and Its Impact on the Black Sea, Journal of Coastal Research, (in print).
- LANCELOT, C., STANEVA, J., VAN EECKHOUT, D., BECKERS, J.-M. & STANEV, E. (2002): Modelling the Danube.influenced North-western Continental Shelf of the Blck

Sea. II. Ecosystem response to Changes of nutrient Delivery by the Danube River after its Damming in 1972. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 54, 473-499.

- LINDTNER, S. and ZESSNER, M. (2003). Abschätzungen von Schmutzfrachten in der Abwasserentsorgung bei unvollständiger Datenlage. *Wiener Mitteilungen*. Band 183: 195-227.
- LÖFFLER, H. (1980): Assessment of the present state and development of eutrophication within the project. In: Fricker, H. (Ed.), OECD Eutrophication Program – Regional Project Alpine Lakes. Swiss Federal Board of Environmental Protection, Bern, 233 p.
- LSMS (2004): Living standard measurement survey in B & H. State Agency for Statistics (BHAS), 371 p. <u>http://www.rzs.rs.ba/AnketeLSMSENG.htm</u>.
- MAYER, D.G. and BUTLER, D.G. (1993): Statistical validation. Ecological Modelling **68**: 21-32.
- MEE, L. D. (2001): Eutrophication in the Black Sea and a basin-wide approach to its control. In: VON BODUNGEN, B. AND TURNER, K. (Eds.): Science and Integrated Coastal Management. Proc. Dahlem Workshop, 12-17 December 1999, Berlin, 71-94.
- NOVOTNY, V. & CHESTERS, G. (1981): Handbook of non-point pollution. Company , New York, London, Melbourne, 555 p.
- OECD (1997): OECD national Soil surface Nutrient balances : 1985 to 1996. Explanatory notes. OECD Secretary, Paris, 16 p..
- OECD (2002): OECD Environmental Data Compendium 2002 Inland waters. Environmental Performance and Information Division, OECD Environment Directorate, Working Group on Environmental Information and Outlooks (WGEIO), Paris, 48 http://www.oecd.org/document/21/0,2340,en_2649_37465_2516565_1_1_1_3746

<u>http://www.oecd.org/document/21/0,2340,en_2649_37465_2316565_1_1_1_3746</u> 5,00.html

- ROJDESTVENSKY, A.V. (1968): Chemical and heavy metal outflow from the Danube into the Black Sea. Limnologische Berichte der X. Jubiläumstagung Donauforschung, Sofia, <u>http://www.iad.gs/content/library/artikel/artikel5.php</u>.
- SCHREIBER, H., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, L., CVITANIC, I., DRUMEA, D., JABUCAR, D., JURAN, S., PATAKI, B., SNISHKO, S. & ZESSNER, M. (2003): Harmonised Inventory of Point and Diffuse Emissions of Nitrogen and Phosphorus for a Transboundary River Basin. Final Report, Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Berlin, 158 S.
- SCHMOLL, O. (1998): N\u00e4hrstoffeintr\u00e4ge aus kommunalen Kl\u00e4ranlagen in die Flussgebiete Deutschlands: Notwendigkeiten und M\u00f6glichkeiten ihrer weiteren Verminderung. Diplomarbeit, Technische Universit\u00e4t Berlin, Institut f\u00fcr Technischen Umweltschutz.
- SCHREIBER, H., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, L.T., CVITANIC, I. DRUMEA, D., JABUCAR, D., JURAN, S., PATAKI, B., SNISHKO, S. & ZESSNER, M. (2004): Point and diffuse nutrient emissions and loads in the transboundary Danube river basin – a modelling approach. Part II of this deliverable.
- SOMLOYDY, L., BRUNNER, P. H. & KROISS, H. (1999). Nutrient Balances for Danube countries: a strategic analysis. *Wat. Sci. Tech.* **40** (10), pp 9-16.

STATISTISCHES	LANDESAMT	BADEN-WÜRTTEMBERG	(2004a):
http://www.st	atistik.baden-		
wuerttemberg	.de/UmweltVerkehr/L	andesdaten/w3c01.asp	
STATISTISCHES	LANDESAMT	BADEN-WÜRTTEMBERG	(2004b):
http://www.st	atistik.baden-		
wuerttemberg	.de/Landwirtschaft/La	ndesdaten/LRt0701.asp,	
http://www.st	atistik.baden-		
wuerttemberg	.de/Landwirtschaft/La	ndesdaten/LRt0702.asp	

- STALNACKE, P. & GRIMVALL, A. (2001): Semiparametric approaches to flow- normalisation and source apportionment of substance transports in rivers. Enironmetrics, 12, 233-250.
- UN/ECE (2004): Environmental Performance Reviews Programme, Country reports, Chapter Management of Water Resources. United Nations, Economic Commission for Europe, Committee on Encironmental Policy, Country reports of Croatia, Serbia & Montenegro and Romania, http://www.unece.org/env/epr/countriesreviewed.htm.
- VAN GILS, J., BEHRENDT, H., CONSTANTINESCU, A., LAZLO, F. & POPESCU, L. (2004): Changes of the nutrient loads of the Danube since the late eighties: An analysis based on long term changes along the whole Danube and ist main tributaries. *Wat. Sci. Tech.*, (in print).
- WEILGUNI, H., & HUMPESCH, U. H. (1999): Long-term trends of physical, chemical and biological variables in the River Danube 1957 - 1995: A statistical approach. *Aquatic Sciences* 61, 234-259.
- ZESSNER M. & KROISS, H. (1999). Retention and losses of nutrients in the hydrosphere. *Wat. Sci. Tech.*, **40**(10), 59-66.
- ZESSNER, M. & VAN GILS, J. (2002): Nutrient fluxes from the Danube basin to the Black Sea. Wat. Sci. Tech. 46 (8), pp 9 - 17.Behrendt, H. & Opitz, D. (1999): Retention of nutrients in river systems: Dependence on specific runoff and hydraulic load. Hydrobiologia 410, pp 111-122.
- ZESSNER, M. & LINDTERN (2004): Estimation of Municipal Point Source Pollution in the Context of River Basin Management, Proceedings of the IWA World Water Congress, Marrakech September 2004, accepted.

List of Figures

Figure I.5	Hydrogeological classes used by MONERIS according to <i>Re- gional Co-operation of the Danube Countries (Regionale Zusammenarbeit der Donauländer)</i> , 1986, in "Die Donau und	
	ihr Einzugsgebiet" part 3	7
Figure I.2	Digital elevation model for the Danube with 90m resolution ac- cording to ftp://e0mss21u.ecs.nasa.gov/srtm/Eurasia/	8
Figure I.3	Map of waste water treatment plants in the Danube basin ac- cording to ICPDR point source inventory and national invento- ries for Austria, Germany, Hungary and Slovakia.	9
Figure I.4	Diagram for the estimation of the nutrient emissions by surface runoff into a river system according to SCHREIBER et al. (2003)	10
Figure II.1:	Inhabitant specific N discharges from point sources in the Da- nube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 according to SCHREIBER et al. (2003)	13
Figure II.2:	Inhabitant specific P discharges from point sources in the Da- nube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 according to Schrei- ber et al. (2003).	14
Figure II.3:	Portion of land use types in the total area of the Danube coun- tries for the period 1998 to 2000 (data source FAO the exception is Germany - DE* represents the land use for Baden- Württemberg and Bavaria according to the German Federal Sta- tistical Office for the same period).	15
Figure II.4:	Portion of land use types at the parts of countries within the Da- nube basin and the average for the total Danube according to CORINE land cover map and transferred USGS land cover map (source Schreiber et al., 2003)	16
Figure II.5:	Consumption of nitrogen fertilizers in the Danube countries, within the EU 15 countries, and EU maximum value in the pe- riod 1998 to 2000 (<i>The bars represent the consumption of nitro-</i> <i>gen fertilizers per agricultural area of the Danube countries</i> . <i>The data given for DE* represents the average N fertilizer con-</i> <i>sumption of the German states Baden-Württemberg and Bava-</i> <i>ria. The database is national statistics published by the statisti-</i> <i>cal offices of the countries or by FAO</i>).	17
Figure II.6:	Consumption of nitrogen fertilizers per inhabitant in the Danube countries, the EU 15 countries, and EU maximum value in the period 1998 to 2000 (<i>Data sources see Figure 5</i>)	18
Figure II.7:	Animal units per agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000. (<i>The bars represent the animal units</i> <i>per agricultural area in the Danube countries</i> . <i>The data given</i> <i>for DE* represents the animal unit density of the German states</i> <i>Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria. The database is national sta-</i> <i>tistics published by the statistical offices of the countries or by</i> <i>FAO, equivalents for Czech Republic and Germany were used</i>)	19

Figure II.8:	Animal units per inhabitant in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 (Data sources see Figure 7)	19
Figure II.9:	Nitrogen surplus per agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 (<i>Data sources Schreiber et al. 2003</i> , based on data of FAO and national statistics for German federal states).	20
Figure II.10:	Phosphorus accumulation on agricultural area in the Danube countries for the period 1950 to 2000 (Data sources Schreiber et al. 2003, based on data of FAO and national statistics for German federal states).	21
Figure II.11:	Agricultural area per inhabitant living in the Danube countries, the EU 15 countries, the minimum in the EU 15 countries, as well as the population weighted average for the Danube basin for the period 1998 to 2000 <i>(Data sources see Fehler! Ver- weisquelle konnte nicht gefunden werden.)</i> . Agricultural area per inhabitant living in the Danube countries, the EU 15 coun- tries, the minimum in the EU 15 countries, as well as the popula- tion weighted average for the Danube basin for the period 1998 to 2000 <i>(Data sources see Fehler! Verweisquelle konnte nicht gefunden werden.)</i>	22
Figure II.12:	Nitrogen surplus per inhabitant in the Danube countries for the period 1998 to 2000 <i>(Data sources see</i> Figure 9).	23
Figure III.1:	Pathways and processes in MONERIS	29
Figure III.2:	Dependency of the mean annual surface runoff on the total run- off for different river catchments in Germany and for the case study catchments of the EU-project daNUbs	31
Figure III.3:	N-surplus normalised to agricultural area of the Danube coun- tries according to CORINE land cover in the period 1998-2000 ($DE^* = only Bayaria and Baden-Wuerttemberg$).	
Figure III.4:	Regional distribution of mean specific nitrogen emissions into surface water in the Danube River Basin calculated with MONERIS for the period 1998-2000	37
Figure III.5:	Shares of anthropogenic activities at the nutrient emissions for the Danube River sub-basins in the period 1998-2000	
Figure III.6:	Comparison of observed and calculated total phosphorus loads (TP, bottom) and nitrogen loads (DIN, top, TN, middle) in the Danube and its sub catchments for the period 1998-2000.	41
Figure IV.1:	Changes of the nitrogen surplus in the agriculture of the Danube countries from 1950 to 2000.	50
Figure IV.2:	The Danube basin and the location of the used monitoring sta- tions within the catchment.	55
Figure IV.3:	Temporal change of the load of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and total phosphorus (TP) for the used monitoring stations along the Danube (A – load of dissolved inorganic nitro-	
	gen; B – load of total phosphorus)	57

Figure IV.4:	Change of the nutrient emissions into the Danube river system for the time period 1955 to 2000 (A – nitrogen, B – phosphorus)	60
Figure IV.5:	Comparison of observed and calculated nutrient loads for the analysed stations in the Danube for the period 1995 to 2000	62
Figure IV.6:	Comparison of the temporal change of the calculated and ob- served DIN load for the stations Jochenstein and Reni as well as the virtual station upstream Sava.	64
Figure IV.7:	Comparison of the temporal change of the calculated and ob- served TP load for the stations Jochenstein and Reni as well as the virtual station upstream Sava.	65
Figure IV.8:	Calculated nutrient loads for the Danube at the station Reni for the period 1955 to 2000 for different flow conditions as well as with and without Iron Gate barrage	67

List of Tables

period 1998-2000	32
Table III.2: Nutrient emissions by point and diffuse pathways into the Danube River Basin in the period 1998-2000.	
Table VI.1: Changes of the population in the Danube basin from 1955 to 2000 (data according to FAOSTAT data (2004), DE represents the data of Bavaria and Baden Württemberg according to Genesis (2004) and Statistisches Landesamt Baden-Württemberg (2004a), all country data weighted by the portion of population in the Danube basin according to Schreiber et al. (2003) for the period 1998-2000.	51
Table VI.2: Relative changes of the agricultural area in the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (data according to FAOSTAT data (2004), DE represents the data of Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg according to Statistisches Lande- samt Baden-Württemberg (2004b) and Genesis (2004)	52
Table IV.3: Changes of the connection of people to sewers, P and N elimination in waste water treatment plants of the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (References see below the table; numbers without index interpolated from the development of comparable countries)	53
Table IV.4: Changes of the connection of people to different waste water treatment plants for the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000 (References see below and Table 3; numbers without index interpolated from the development of comparable countries - percentages in relation to the total population con- nected to WWTP's)	54
Table IV.5: Elimination rates of the different treatments in WWTP's estimated from point source inventories of the Danube countries according to Schreiber et al. (2003)	55
Table IV.6: Changes of the specific P emissions of the people and industrial in- direct dis charges in the Danube countries from 1955 to 2000	56
Table IV.7: Characteristics of the water quality monitoring station used in this paper	58
Table IV.8: Comparison of the nutrient emissions and loads within the Danube according to the results of different studies for time periods at the begin and in the mid of the 1990s (Total – toal emissions; diffuse – emissions from diffuse sources; point –point source discharges; DIN – calculated load of dissolved inorganic nitrogen; TN load – calculated load of total nitrogen; TP load – calculated load of total phosphorus).	69